Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev



Review

Default-mode brain dysfunction in mental disorders: A systematic review

Samantha J. Broyd ^{a,*}, Charmaine Demanuele ^b, Stefan Debener ^c, Suzannah K. Helps ^a, Christopher J. James ^b, Edmund J.S. Sonuga-Barke ^{a,d,e,f,*}

- a Institute for Disorders of Impulse & Attention, Developmental Brain-Behaviour Laboratory, School of Psychology, University of Southampton, UK
- ^b Signal Processing and Control Group, ISVR, University of Southampton, UK
- ^c Medical Research Council Institute of Hearing Research, Southampton, UK
- ^d Child Study Centre, New York University, USA
- ^e Social, Genetic, Developmental Psychiatry Centre, Institute of Psychiatry, London, UK
- f Department of Experimental Clinical & Health Psychology, University of Gent, Belgium

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 June 2008 Received in revised form 1 September 2008 Accepted 3 September 2008

Keywords:
Default-mode network
Low frequency oscillations
Functional connectivity
Resting state
Alzheimer's disease
Schizophrenia
Depression
Anxiety
Epilepsy
Autism
Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
fMRI
EEG
MEG

ABSTRACT

In this review we are concerned specifically with the putative role of the default-mode network (DMN) in the pathophysiology of mental disorders. First, we define the DMN concept with regard to its neuro-anatomy, its functional organisation through low frequency neuronal oscillations, its relation to other recently discovered low frequency resting state networks, and the cognitive functions it is thought to serve. Second, we introduce methodological and analytical issues and challenges. Third, we describe putative mechanisms proposed to link DMN abnormalities and mental disorders. These include interference by network activity during task performance, altered patterns of antagonism between task specific and non-specific elements, altered connectively and integrity of the DMN, and altered psychological functions served by the network DMN. Fourth, we review the empirical literature systematically. We relate DMN dysfunction to dementia, schizophrenia, epilepsy, anxiety and depression, autism and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder drawing out common and unique elements of the disorders. Finally, we provide an integrative overview and highlight important challenges and tasks for future research.

© 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	The d	efault-mode network	000	
	1.1.	Regional task-non-specific deactivations during goal-directed activity	000	
	1.2.	Coherence and functional connectivity within the DMN	000	
	1.3.	DMN characterised by low frequency BOLD signal.	000	
	1.4.	Anti-correlated task-positive and task-negative resting networks	000	
	1.5.	What functions are subserved by the default-mode network?	000	
2.	Methods and measurement models			
	2.1.	Functional magnetic resonance imaging	000	
	2.2.	Electrophysiology	000	
	2.3.	Magnetoencephalography	000	
	2.4.	Key methodological challenges	000	
	2.5.	Key analytical challenges	000	

0149-7634/\$ – see front matter © 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.09.002

Please cite this article in press as: Broyd, S.J., et al., Default-mode brain dysfunction in mental disorders: A systematic review. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. (2008), doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.09.002

^{*} Corresponding authors at: Institute for Disorders of Impulse and Attention, School of Psychology, University of Southampton, Highfield, Southampton SO17 1BJ, UK. E-mail addresses: s.broyd@soton.ac.uk (S.J. Broyd), ejb3@soton.ac.uk (Edmund J.S. Sonuga-Barke).

2

ARTICLE IN PRESS

S.J. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

		2.5.1. Analysing very low frequency oscillations measured using multi-channel MEG and EEG recordings	000		
		2.5.2. Denoising and dimensionality reduction	000		
		2.5.3. Extraction of spatial, temporal and spectral information from data	000		
3.	Putati	ive mechanisms for default-mode-related dysfunction in mental disorder	000		
	3.1.	Default-mode interference during task performance	000		
	3.2.	Altered patterns of antagonism between the task-positive network and DMN	000		
	3.3.	Altered connectivity suggesting altered integrity of the default-mode functional network	000		
	3.4.	Altered patterns of DMN activity.	000		
4.	A syst	tematic review of empirical studies of default-mode abnormalities and mental disorders	000		
	4.1.	Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment	000		
	4.2.	Schizophrenia	000		
	4.3.	Depression and anxiety	000		
	4.4.	Epilepsy	000		
	4.5.	Autism spectrum disorder	000		
	4.6.	Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder	000		
5.	Integration and future directions				
	5.1.	Putative mechanisms	000		
	5.2.	Aetiology	000		
	5.3.	Methodology.	000		
	5.4.	Analysis	000		
	5.5.	Clinical relevance	000		
6.	In cor	nclusion	000		
	Refere	ences	000		

What does the brain do when not actively engaged in goaldirected cognitive tasks - when, for want of a better term, we might say it is at "rest"? What functions does the 'resting' brain subserve and how do these impinge on more general aspects of cognition? These intriguing questions, largely ignored in the history of cognitive psychology, have become a significant focus of research activity in cognitive neuroscience in the past few years since Marcus Raichle first coined the term 'default-mode' in relation to resting state brain function (Raichle et al., 2001). Our goal in the current paper is to explore the potential significance of the default-mode network (DMN; Greicius et al., 2003) concept for contemporary models of mental disorder. First, we delimit the concept of the DMN and describe its structural and functional neuroanatomy. Second, we explore some of the key methodological issues relating to study of DMN. Third, we review the empirical studies of DMN in individuals with mental disorders. Fourth, we draw out the potential significance of these data for theoretical models of psychopathology. A number of possibilities will be considered that focus on irregularities inherent within the patterns of coherence within the DMN, aberrant patterns of interconnections with other networks and dysfunctional patterns of transition from resting to goal-directed activity. Finally we attempt to draw out the clinical implications of altered DMN activity.

1. The default-mode network

The DMN concept although only first introduced into the published literature in 2001 has rapidly become a central theme in contemporary cognitive and clinical neuroscience. Here we identify five key elements.

1.1. Regional task-non-specific deactivations during goal-directed activity

The DMN concept comes from an emergent body of evidence demonstrating a consistent pattern of deactivation across a network of brain regions that includes precuneus/posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC) and medial, lateral and inferior parietal cortex; that occurs during the initiation of task-related activity (Raichle et al., 2001). Although deactivated during task performance, this network is

active in the resting brain with a high degree of functional connectivity between regions. This resting state activity has been termed the default-mode of brain activity to denote a state in which an individual is awake and alert, but not actively involved in an attention demanding or goal-directed task (Raichle et al., 2001). A comparison of brain energy utilization during rest and activetask oriented conditions indicates that consumption is only slightly greater for the active than the resting brain (Raichle and Gusnard, 2002; Raichle and Mintun, 2006). For researchers to focus on active task-oriented conditions to the exclusion of rest may be a significant oversight. Research has concentrated on the patterns of activity within and interconnectivity between DMN brain regions during rest, and the impact that the commencement of goaldirected activity has on this. Significantly, DMN activity is attenuated rather than extinguished during this transition between states, and is observed, albeit at lower levels, alongside taskspecific activations (Eichele et al., 2008; Fransson, 2006; Greicius et al., 2003; Greicius and Menon, 2004). The more demanding the task the stronger the deactivation appears to be (McKiernan et al., 2006; Singh and Fawcett, 2008). DMN activity persists to a substantial degree during simple sensory tasks, in which satisfactory task performance is possible with only minimal attentional resources (Greicius et al., 2003; Wilson et al., 2008), during the early stages of sleep (Horovitz et al., 2008), and to a lesser extent, under conscious sedation (Greicius et al., 2008a). It has also been shown that increased PCC activity, or reduced deactivation, systematically preceded and predicted response errors in a flanker task, up to 30 s before the error was made (Eichele et al., 2008). Momentary lapses in attention denoted by longer RTs and less accurate performance in an attentional control task have been associated with less task-induced deactivation of the DMN, and reduced activity in right inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), middle frontal gyrus (MFG) and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC; i.e. frontal control regions; Weissman et al., 2006). A notable exception to this general pattern of deactivation during goaldirected activity occurs in relation to tasks requiring selfreferential thought or working memory where only specific DMN regions are specifically deactivated. For example, attenuation of the ventral MPFC occurred with tasks involving judgments that were self-referential, while activity in the dorsal MPFC increased for self-referential stimuli, suggesting the dorsal MPFC is

Please cite this article in press as: Broyd, S.J., et al., Default-mode brain dysfunction in mental disorders: A systematic review. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. (2008), doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.09.002

S.J. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

connectivity (Fox and Raichle, 2007; Fox et al., 2005; Raichle and Gusnard, 2005); and a binding mechanism between introspective and extrospective orienting of attention (Fransson, 2006). Developing a more comprehensive understanding of the origins and functions of such connectivity is key to understanding brain function and neuronal organisation more generally (Fox et al., 2005).

associated with introspective orientated thought (Gusnard et al., 2001). Working memory tasks differentially deactivate the PCC. One study observed a signal increase and spatial decrease in the PCC and a signal decrease but spatial increase in the ACC with increasing working memory load in an n-back task (Esposito et al., 2006). A similar result in the same task was also reported using a frequency-based coherence measure (Salvador et al., 2008). In contrast, earlier research reported a significant task-related decrease in PCC (Greicius et al., 2003), and although Hampson et al. (2006) did not find functional connectivity between the ventral ACC and PCC to differ between rest and a working memory task, performance was positively correlated with the degree of ventral ACC and PCC connectivity. Attenuation of DMN activity has been described as task non-specific, the extent to which goaldirected activity influences this attenuation is dependent at least in part, on cognitive load and task requirements involving functions subserved by regions within the DMN.

1.3. DMN characterised by low frequency BOLD signal

The DMN is characterised by very low frequency neuronal oscillations providing temporal synchrony between functionally specific and diverse brain regions (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). The coherence of such spontaneous oscillations accounts for significant variability in the trial-to-trial BOLD response, and as such is hypothesised to superimpose in a linear manner on task-related brain activity (Fox et al., 2006a). Biswal et al. (1995) were the first to observe the coherence between such low frequency oscillations and widely distributed neuro-anatomical networks, which have since been explored in a wide range of tasks (e.g. Gusnard et al., 2001; Kelly et al., 2008; McKiernan et al., 2006), clinical pathologies (e.g. Bluhm et al., 2007; Castellanos et al., 2008; Greicius et al., 2007, 2004; Kennedy et al., 2006; Lowe et al., 2002; Tian et al., 2006; Tinaz et al., 2008), and even in chimpanzees (Rilling et al., 2007). More limited evidence of DMN in the infant brain (Fransson et al., 2007), fragmented connectivity between DMN regions during rest in young children (7-9 years; Fair et al., 2008), and more consistent DMN connectivity in children aged 9-12 years (Thomason et al., 2008), suggests that this network of spontaneous low frequency activity undergoes developmental change and maturation.

1.2. Coherence and functional connectivity within the DMN

The issue of how different brain regions are connected functionally, that is, how the interplay of different areas subserves cognitive function, has become a key concern in neuroscience. Empirical research has largely focussed on the functional connectivity of the DMN within the parameters of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) data and the blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) signal; an indirect measure of neuronal activity reflecting changes in blood oxygen level contrasts within the brain (Fox and Raichle, 2007). In this context, functional connectivity simply refers to the temporal correlation between fluctuations in the BOLD signal of discrete anatomical regions (Fox and Raichle, 2007). More generally, functional connectivity between two given regions is considered in terms of the temporal coherence or correlation between the oscillatory firing rate of neuronal assemblies (Friston, 1994). Additionally, the spatial co-ordinates of the nodes within the DMN appear to substantially mirror the underlying structural connectivity between brain regions (Greicius et al., 2008b). Indeed, using a computational approach to examine spontaneous resting state fluctuations and their association with structural connectivity based on macque neocortex data, Honey et al. (2007) have demonstrated a structure-function relationship at multiple timescales. The properties of neuronal networks indicate that low frequency oscillations are likely associated with connectivity of larger scale neuronal networks, while higher frequencies are constrained in smaller networks, and may be modulated by activity in the slower oscillating larger networks (Buzsáki and Draguhn, 2004; Fox and Raichle, 2007; Penttonen and Buzsáki, 2003). Providing the oscillatory frequencies remain similar, connectivity may be maintained across diverse brain regions despite weakened synaptic links (Buzsáki and Draguhn, 2004). In this way, very low frequencies can bind widespread neuronal assemblies each oscillating at higher frequencies (Buzsáki and Draguhn, 2004). Buzsáki and Draguhn (2004) have argued that potential functions of general neuronal connectivity include information exchange between diverse brain regions through the binding of cell assemblies and cognitive precepts, as well as the consolidation and amalgamation of learned information for long-term memory storage. The functional role of low frequency oscillations coherent across resting state networks, and particularly the DMN, remains speculative. Possible candidates include the temporal binding of information (Engel et al., 2001), particularly related to the coordination and neuronal organisation of brain activity between regions that frequently work in combination (Fox and Raichle, 2007); a record of previous patterns of connectivity mediated by task-specific activity, or even dynamic predictions about future patterns of

1.4. Anti-correlated task-positive and task-negative resting networks

Brain activity in the resting state incorporates both task-negative and task-positive components. The DMN has been described as a task-negative network given the apparent antagonism between its activation and task performance. A second network also characterised by spontaneous low frequency activity has been identified as a task-positive network. This network includes the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), inferior parietal cortex (IPC) and supplementary motor area (SMA) and appears to be associated with task-related patterns of increased alertness, and has also been related to response preparation and selection (Fox et al., 2005, 2006a; Fransson, 2005, 2006; Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). Interestingly, the task-positive network and the DMN are temporally anti-correlated, such that task-specific activation of the taskpositive network is affiliated with attenuation of the DMN. One hypothesis is that task-positive activity is thought to reflect extroceptive attentional orienting during rest, associated with preparedness for unexpected or novel environmental events. According to this account the reciprocal relationship between the task-positive component and DMN has been described as low frequency toggling between a task-independent, self-referential and introspective state and an extrospective state that ensures the individual is alert and attentive to unexpected or novel environmental events (Fox et al., 2005; Fransson, 2005, 2006). Similarly, Fransson (2006) has tentatively proposed that the desynchronicity and anti-correlation of these two networks may reflect a binding mechanism between an introspective and extrospective attentional orientation. Their high degree of temporal anti-correlation emphasises the potential degree of antagonism between the task-positive and task-negative network and the psychological functions they reflect (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). More recently, it has been suggested that the close temporal linkage, and strength of anticorrelation between the task-negative and task-positive network may allow them both to be considered components of a single

S.I. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

default network with anti-correlated components (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). This has led to a certain confusion with regard to terminology. Should only the task-negative network be termed the DMN and contrasted with the task-positive network? Or should both task-positive and task-negative networks be regarded as elements of the DMN? The case for including task-positive and negative components as part of the same default-mode network system is supported by a considerable amount of evidence. Fox et al. (2005) suggest that the close association between task performance and the strength of anti-correlation between the networks may reflect the underlying dynamics and organisation of the brain. This proposition allows for naturally occurring competition between the task-negative and task-positive component, such that spontaneous anti-correlated interactions between the networks will result in periodic task interference, and importantly, does not necessitate the involvement of a central executive. Indeed, it has been suggested on a number of occasions that the anti-correlation between the two networks may prove to be functionally more important, than DMN activity itself (Fox et al., 2005; Uddin et al., 2008b). For the purposes of clarity in the current review we use the DMN term to describe the task-negative network specifically. We use the term Low Frequency Resting State Networks (LFRSN) to describe both the task-positive and task-negative networks.

LFRSNs are not limited to the task-positive and task-negative networks described above. Mounting evidence attests to the more probable notion of multiple networks at rest (Beckmann et al., 2005; Damoiseaux et al., 2006; Greicius et al., 2008a; Jafri et al., 2008; Mantini et al., 2007). Indeed, coherent fluctuations in the resting state were first identified in the motor cortex (Biswal et al., 1995). In a comprehensive examination of LFRSNs in the adult human brain, Damoiseaux et al. (2006) used a form of independent component analysis (ICA) to assess coherence of BOLD signal in terms of temporal and spatial variation, as well as variations between participants. In this study, low frequency resting state fluctuations were identified in the DMN, sensory and motor networks, visual and auditory cortices, and two additional networks most likely involved in memory and executing functions. Using simultaneous electrophysiology (EEG)-fMRI recordings, Mantini et al. (2007) observed six resting state networks including the DMN, dorsal attention network, visual and auditory networks, somato-motor network and a network postulated to reflect self-referential processing. This study was based on short recordings of resting activity only; the reported relationships between EEG and BOLD require further investigation. However, it is clearly apparent that task-related activations, also reflected in low frequency spontaneous activity, are also readily identified during rest. These include both the dorsal and ventral attention systems (Fox et al., 2006b). The human brain then, is never really 'at rest', but rather an orchestra of distinct functional networks in dynamic concert. Recently, resting state networks have been examined in the infant brain, in which at least five have been identified. These include networks underpinning visual, auditory and sensorimotor activity similar to those observed in the adult brain, although there was little evidence from this for a DMN equivalent (Fransson et al., 2007). Further, investigation of the developmental trajectory of two networks, the fronto-parietal and cingulo-opercular, involved in implementing top-down taskspecific control and evident during resting state fMRI, are reported to increase in integrity with age (Fair et al., 2007). Namely, shortrange connections decreased and long-range connections increased with age and brain maturation (Fair et al., 2007).

1.5. What functions are subserved by the default-mode network?

What then is the functional significance of DMN activity? PCC (and adjacent precuneus) and MPFC, are the two most clearly

delineated regions within the DMN in terms of their functional roles (Raichle et al., 2001). PCC appears to serve an important adaptive function and is implicated in broad-based continuous sampling of external and internal environments (Raichle et al., 2001), the attenuation of which during transition from rest facilitates focused attention during task-specific activity (Eichele et al., 2008; Raichle et al., 2001). Moreover, modulation of the PCC during working-memory tasks (Greicius et al., 2003), reduced activation at rest (Greicius et al., 2004), susceptibility to atrophy in Alzheimer's disease patients (Buckner et al., 2005), and reduced connectivity with anterior DMN regions in attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) participants (Castellanos et al., 2008; Uddin et al., 2008a) suggests that this region may be implicated in working memory dysfunction. Finally, PCC and retrosplenial cortex are also associated with the processing of emotionally salient stimuli, and may play a role in emotional processing related to episodic memory (Maddock, 1999). MPFC has been associated with social cognition involving the monitoring of ones own psychological states, and mentalising about the psychological states of others (Blakemore, 2008; Gusnard and Raichle, 2001; Rilling et al., 2008; Schilbach et al., 2008). In the context of DMN activity, MPFC is thought to mediate a dynamic interplay between emotional processing and cognition functions which map on to the ventral and dorsal regions, respectively (Gusnard et al., 2001; Raichle et al., 2001; Simpson et al., 2001). Ventral MPFC is heavily interconnected with other limbic structures such as amgydala, ventral striatum and hypothalamus, which Gusnard and colleagues suggest may indicate a role in relation to the mediation of visceromotor aspects of emotional information gathered from external and internal sources (Gusnard et al., 2001; Gusnard and Raichle, 2001). Both PCC/precuneus and MPFC are associated with introspective processes such as selfreferential and emotional processing, and are attenuated when attention is directed toward external events (Gusnard and Raichle, 2001). Importantly, PCC activity predicts response errors in flanker tasks, which points towards the behavioural significance of the DMN (Eichele et al., 2008). The interaction of the anterior and posterior regions of the DMN may serve to organise neuronal activity (Buzsáki and Draguhn, 2004), or more simply as a state in which the mind may wander during self-referential mental processing (Fransson, 2005; Gusnard et al., 2001; Mason et al.,

In summary, recent research has identified a 'default-mode' network of brain regions active in the resting brain and characterised by coherent low frequency neuronal oscillations (<0.1 Hz). During goal-directed activity the DMN is attenuated, while a second, temporally anti-correlated network, the task-positive network is activated. The high degree of temporal anti-correlation between the DMN and task-positive network, is thought to reflect a low frequency toggling between their associated psychological functions of introspective and self-referential thought and extrospective attentional orienting, respectively; allowing an individual to remain alert to unexpected environmental events. Indeed, the close temporal linkage and rivalry between associated functions is a potential argument for considering the DMN and task-positive component as part of a single network.

2. Methods and measurement models

In order to understand the findings relating DMN activity to mental disorders reviewed below and so to draw out the relevant and appropriate implications, a survey of key methodological and analytical issues is presented. Resting brain states and the DMN have been principally investigated using fMRI (e.g. Greicius et al.,

-

2003, 2004, 2007), although positron emission tomography (PET; e.g. Raichle et al., 2001) and electrophysiology have also been employed (e.g. Helps et al., 2008; Laufs et al., 2003b; Scheeringa et al., 2008). In this section we describe each technology and review their strengths and weaknesses with regard to the DMN. We will then highlight some key methodological challenges for the field. Finally, we review some significant analytical considerations especially in relation to measurement of low frequency brain activity.

2.1. Functional magnetic resonance imaging

The assessment of resting brain networks using the BOLD response may be achieved through a number of methods. Two of which, region-of-interest (ROI) seed-based correlation approaches and ICA, are most commonly employed in the literature. Briefly, seed-based approaches use regression or correlation analyses to examine the temporal coherence between a selected voxel or ROI and the time-series of all other voxels in the brain (Uddin et al., 2008a). Such an approach is used to examine temporal coherence between regions, and identify networks of functional connectivity (e.g. Biswal et al., 1995). In contrast, ICA is a model-free approach, which, unlike ROI seed-based analysis, is not bounded by a priori predictions. ICA decomposes data into maximally (temporally or spatially) independent components, representing the characteristic time and spatial signatures of the sources underlying the recorded mixed signals (McKeown et al., 1998). While there are theoretical advantages/disadvantages of each method - a direct comparison reveals comparable results (Bluhm et al., 2008; Greicius et al., 2004; Long et al., 2008). Other analytical approaches have also been applied. One such approach is 'network homogeneity', a voxel-wise measure that examines the correlation between any given voxel and all other voxels within brain network (Uddin et al., 2008a). Uddin et al. argue that this approach avoids a priori knowledge about potentially aberrant regions with a network. Similarly, Zang et al. (2004) have examined the correlation between a given voxel and neighbouring voxels, denoted as 'regional connectivity' or 'regional homogeneity' (Zang et al., 2007; Zhu et al., 2008). This approach is limited to the investigation of close-range connectivity. To assess local coherence in brain regions, Deshpande et al. (2007) have used a similar method, 'integrated local correlation', which unlike regional homogeneity, does not require the neighbourhood to be predefined, as it is relatively unaffected by spatial resolution. Furthermore, Zang et al. (2007) introduced an amplitude measure of low frequency fluctuation in resting state fMRI (amplitude of low frequency fluctuation; ALFF), which was further improved by Zou et al. (2008) and termed 'fractional amplitude of low frequency fluctuation'. This improved approach is thought to increase the sensitivity and specificity with which regional resting state activity may be detected (Zou et al., 2008). Finally, Greicius et al. (2004) have developed a 'goodness of fit model' to more accurately identify the functionality of ICA components. In this method, a predefined template is used to identity a network through a goodness-of-fit procedure (for further detail see Greicius et al., 2004). This method allowed comparison of the DNM in individual participants, with successful application to a clinical population (Alzheimer's disease patients), developed as an automatic ICA technique for identifying the DMN.

2.2. Electrophysiology

Although fMRI BOLD imaging is ideal for providing a representation of the spatial organisation of brain function, it is as yet unclear how these changes relate to concurrent changes in

the spatial extent and magnitude of neuronal events (Debener et al., 2006). The aspect of neuronal activity which best predicts changes in BOLD contrast (i.e. combined neuronal spiking, local field potentials, changes in spontaneous rhythms, etc.) has not been established definitely (Huettel et al., 2004). Hence there may be a degree of incongruence between hemodynamic and electrophysiological signals. Moreover, despite the excellent spatial resolution of fMRI, the temporal resolution is poor. In contrast, EEG has excellent temporal resolution in which electrophysiological correlates of spontaneous, low frequency neuronal activity may be examined (Khader et al., 2008).

Researchers have examined DMN activity in terms of traditional bands of EEG activity (Chen et al., 2008), and in terms of very slow EEG frequencies (Helps et al., 2008; Vanhatalo et al., 2004). Vanhatalo et al. (2004) reported pervasive very low frequency oscillations (0.02-0.2 Hz) across diverse scalp regions, in combination with evidence of robust phase-locking between these low frequency oscillations and traditional EEG bands of activity (Vanhatalo et al., 2004). Further, the stability of low-frequency oscillatory networks has been demonstrated over a 1-week testretest period, both in terms of their spatial location and frequency (Helps et al., 2008). Chen et al. (2008) compared the spatial distribution and spectral power of seven bands of resting state EEG activity, in an eyes closed and eyes open condition. In the eyes closed condition, the authors report delta (0.5-3.5 Hz) activity in the prefrontal area, theta (4-7 Hz) activity at frontocentral sites, and alpha-1 (7.5-9.5 Hz) activity distributed in the anteriorposterior region. Further, alpha-2 (10-12 Hz) and beta-1 (13-23 Hz) activity were evident in posterior regions, and high frequency beta-2 (24-34 Hz) and gamma (34-45 Hz) in the prefrontal area. Comparatively, in the eyes open condition, delta activity was enhanced, and theta, alpha-1, alpha-2 and beta-1 were reduced in the respective regions. Chen et al. (2008) term this defined set of regional and frequency specific activity, the EEG default-mode network (EEG-DMN), and propose that the EEG-DMN should now be examined in the context of task-induced demands and in patient groups.

One study has investigated event-related potential (ERP) correlates of mind wandering, symptomatic of DMN interference (Smallwood et al., 2008). In this study, a positive going component elicited approximately 300 ms after stimulus onset (the P300), was reduced in amplitude on trials preceding an error, and trials preceding self-reported mind wandering (irrespective of the participant's awareness that their mind had wandered). Smallwood et al. (2008) argue that these findings reflect a reduction in the amount of attention allocated to the task environment during mind wandering, and likely indicate DMN interference of task-related processes.

The possibility of incongruence between BOLD and EEG signals, and the relative strengths and weaknesses of fMRI and EEG methodologies, highlight the advantage of combining the two modalities in simultaneously recording (Debener et al., 2005, 2006; Herrmann and Debener, 2008; Laufs, 2008). Moreover, simultaneous EEG-fMRI allows the empirical determination of the degree of overlap (or dissonance) between EEG and fMRI BOLD and may be a perfect tool to investigate the EEG correlates of DMN activity. This growing body of literature has noted correlations between the DMN and gamma (Mantini et al., 2007), beta (Laufs et al., 2003b; Mantini et al., 2007), alpha (Laufs et al., 2003a; Mantini et al., 2007), and theta (Meltzer et al., 2007; Scheeringa et al., 2008). Mid-range beta (17-23 Hz) was strongly correlated with task-independent deactivations in PCC, precuneus, temporoparietal and dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (Laufs et al., 2003b). In view of the lack of association between alpha and resting state brain activity, Laufs et al. (2003b) hypothesise that alpha may act

S.J. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

as a baseline for specific brain structures associated with the attentional system, and more specifically the task-positive network (Laufs et al., 2006). In contrast, Mantini et al. (2007) reported positive correlations between beta (13-30 Hz) and alpha (8-13 Hz) with the PCC, precuneus, bilateral superior frontal gyrus and the MFG. Further regions in the DMN associated with selfreferential processing such as the MPFC were positively correlated with gamma (30-50 Hz; Mantini et al., 2007). In addition, medial frontal theta power changes were negatively correlated with the BOLD response in medial frontal regions, PCC/precuneus and bilaterally in inferior frontal, inferior parietal and middle temporal cortices and the cerebellum (Scheeringa et al., 2008). Further, Meltzer et al. (2007) investigated EEG correlates of the BOLD response in separate EEG and fMRI sessions, fronto-medial theta was most strongly negatively correlated with the MPFC, although negative correlations were also found with other DMN areas such as PCC. The results of Meltzer et al. (2007) and Scheeringa et al. (2008) suggest that the DMN may operate within the theta frequency such that decreased DMN activation is associated with increased theta power during goal-directed activity. Finally, concurrent electrophysiological and fMRI recordings in rats have shown correlations between oscillatory activity in the delta range (1–4 Hz) and resting state functional connectivity (Lu et al., 2007).

2.3. Magnetoencephalography

Magnetoencephalography is a promising methodology through which electromagnetic correlates of DMN activity, including very low frequency oscillations may be examined. MEG acts as a direct neuronal activity probe with real-time resolution (in the order of ms) and can provide a high spatial resolution (in the order of mm) when coupled with structural models (this is because the homogenous conductivity of MEG is not distorted by the scalp, skull, brain and cerebrospinal fluid). This allows for accurate source analysis. Although precise MEG correlates of the DMN have not yet been investigated, there is an increasing body of research examining resting state MEG data (e.g. Bosboom et al., 2006; Osipova et al., 2006; Stam et al., 2006; Stoffers et al., 2008). Indeed, Leistner et al. (2007) have used concurrent direct current (DC) EEG and DC MEG recordings to investigate low frequency MEG oscillations (≈0.1 Hz) as participants performed very slow (0.5 Hz) and slow (1.5 Hz) finger movements. Motor-related low frequency MEG oscillations were recorded from the hemisphere contralateral to the hand used (Leistner et al., 2007). This study, in combination with the current interest in resting state MEG oscillations highlights MEG as a useful methodology in the temporal and spatial localisation of DMN activity.

2.4. Key methodological challenges

A number of key methodological challenges affect both DMN measurement and methodological models. First and foremost, it is not yet evident how oscillatory brain activity as measured by EEG/MEG relates to the DMN as identified with fMRI and PET. While MEG for instance clearly has advantages compared to EEG, it may be blind to deeper sources of the DMN such as the PCC. Whether these deeper sources express an open electromagnetic-field-oscillatory-pattern that can be observed with EEG, MEG, or both, remains to be demonstrated. The underlying problem here is how signals registered using different 'neuroimaging' modalities such as fMRI, MEG and EEG relate to each other. It is conceivable that some activity patterns picked up by EEG are not 'visible' in fMRI BOLD, and vice versa (Nunez and Silberstein, 2000), and similar examples could be constructed for the relationship between MEG and EEG. For instance, MEG and EEG reflect synchronous activity of

pyramidal neurons, but both measures are differently sensitive to the orientation and distance of neural sources. Moreover, about 20% of all grey matter neurons are of non-pyramidal type and express metabolic activity that may be well reflected in the BOLD signal, but not in EEG or MEG. MEG and EEG amplitudes depend (among other biophysical properties) on the number, orientation, and of synchronisation of pyramidal neurons, but the latter effect may not be well represented in the BOLD signal. More research is needed combining different modalities, but current progress in the field of simultaneous EEG-fMRI research is promising (Debener et al., 2006; Herrmann and Debener, 2008, for review) and may help to better understand which portions of fMRI BOLD activity are reflected in EEG/MEG.

Second, low frequency electromagnetic activity is notoriously difficult to study. Interference to the low frequency fluctuations in the BOLD signal may arise from low frequency cycles in respiration and cardiac activity, and the related body and head movements may obscure EEG and MEG signals. Variations in respiration $(\sim 0.03 \text{ Hz})$ correlate highly with fluctuations in the DMN (<0.1 Hz), with overlap between regions within the DMN and areas significantly affected by changes in respiration (Birn et al., 2006, 2008). When respiration per volume time changes are regressed out, the functional connectivity between regions in the DMN is improved slightly, although this improvement increases if global signal changes are regressed out (Birn et al., 2006; Fox et al., 2005). The high correlation between global signal changes and respiration volume per time changes, lead Birn et al. (2006) to argue that the global signal may more accurately reflect the temporal shape of the respiration-volume-induced fMRI signal changes and therefore lead to improved correction. Although it should be noted that such a technique may also lead to the removal of aspects of the signal one is trying to detect (Birn et al., 2006). The utility of ICA in the separation of low frequency fluctuations associated with the DMN and those associated with respirationinduced changes has been recently demonstrated (Birn et al., 2008). Nonetheless, Birn et al. (2008) emphasise that an independent measure of respiratory activity is particularly valuable to accurately identify components reflecting neuronal

Much attention in the resting state fMRI literature has been directed toward the anti-correlation between the DMN and taskpositive networks. Such research has commonly involved preprocessing techniques, and in particular the abovementioned regression of global mean signal fluctuations. Significantly, the possibility that such data pre-processing methods may also lead to artifactual negative correlations has been raised and should be considered in future research (Murphy et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2008). Although it is conceivable that anti-correlations between brain networks may arise as an artifact of pre-processing methodology, it is thought that previously reported anti-correlations are indeed a true representation of a physiological relationship between the DMN and task-positive networks (Fox et al., 2008). In summary, the analysis of neural activity in the low frequency range requires careful recording and artifact processing procedures (see Fox and Raichle, 2007, for a further review).

Third, the biggest challenge may be to determine the behavioural correlates of the DMN and other resting state networks. Conceptual, methodological and empirical evidence suggests that the conventional approach of analysing EEG, MEG and fMRI, which focuses on response averaging, does not provide the full picture of the brain–behaviour relationship (Makeig et al., 2004). Intrinsic activity, which may also be called brain states, may systematically contribute to behaviour, as it has been shown repeatedly, but this relationship has been determined mostly on theta or faster brain oscillations. Moreover, in the case of fMRI,

7

slow activity profiles in the DMN may be task-relevant but non-oscillatory in nature (e.g. Eichele et al., 2008). Recent animal research has shown that the phase of ongoing cortex activity in sensory modalities can be modulated by other modalities, and that this phase modulation relates to behavioural performance (for review, see Schroeder et al., 2008). With the development of online fMRI protocols, it might be possible to adapt a similar strategy: the adjustment of the timing of experimental stimuli with regard to the amplitude (or phase) of BOLD oscillations in the DMN may turn out to be a powerful tool and help to establish the functional relevance of the DMN.

2.5. Key analytical challenges

2.5.1. Analysing very low frequency oscillations measured using multi-channel MEG and EEG recordings

The analysis of slow waves in the range of 0.01 < f < 0.1 Hz (which have previously been discarded as noise) in a MEG system with a dense array of sensors has several implications. Longer time recordings (in the order of tens of minutes) are required to be able to extract these very low frequency components accurately. This may compromise the compliance of the participants when given a repetitive task in an experiment. Technically, it also leads to loss of stationarity and to drifts in the recordings – although these can be mediated by careful recording of the data. The sampling rate chosen needs to be high enough to ensure that there are enough data points available for accurate calculation of fast Fourier transforms (FFT) within the desired frequency range. Moreover, electromagnetic brain signals exhibit power spectra with high power at low frequencies, normalisation of this 1/f trend is required to render a flat base spectrum when no extra low frequency activity is present and to reveal distinct peaks related to specific cognitive tasks or mental conditions (such as resting states). This is particularly important in the analysis of such infraslow oscillations (Demanuele et al., 2007).

MEG data is obtained from an inherently 'noisy' recording process and typically contains a mixture of artifacts and brain signals from a variety of sources such as muscle and ocular components, along with various active, if not all superficial brain regions. This implies that denoising techniques such as ICA need to be used for proper network analysis.

Large sensor arrays result in a data deluge problem, which has practical considerations such as long computational times and large memory requirements for the application of signal processing techniques. However, the large multi-dimensional datasets also bring with them issues related to the appropriate choice of the analysis technique.

2.5.2. Denoising and dimensionality reduction

The data-deluge problem, coupled with the artifactual and multi-source data recordings, make these ideal candidates for the use of blind source separation (BSS) strategies in order to remove artifacts, reduce dimensionality and single out useful brain sources. ICA is a specific form of BSS which is used in the identification and separation of sources with little prior information. The components are assumed to be mixed, either linearly or nonlinearly, and the components themselves, together with the mixing system, are assumed to be unknown. ICA has been extensively used for the analysis of electromagnetic brain signals (James and Hesse, 2005; Vigario et al., 2000). Depending on the algorithm used, ICA provides estimates of brain sources, somewhere between the actual brain sources and the scalp signals, such that the recovered components are maximally independent. Generally, separate independent components are grouped together to form a subspace which represents the brain sources of interest. Thus ICA provides a useful tool for denoising the electrophysiological data by distinguishing artifacts and useful brain sources (Jung et al., 2000; Makeig et al., 2002; Vigario et al., 1998).

Single channel ICA (SCICA) is a special form of ICA that isolates underlying components using only temporal information inherent in *single channel* recordings (Davies and James, 2007). A multichannel MEG system is highly dense and channels that are close to each other tend to be influenced by activity from similar brain areas. By analysing fewer channels in specific brain regions one would still be able to extract underlying temporal generators contributing to the measured signals. This automatically achieves dimensional reduction since a number of spatially distinct brain channels can be chosen out of the dense multi-channel recordings and underlying independent brain sources can still be extracted.

2.5.3. Extraction of spatial, temporal and spectral information from data

Many signal processing techniques exist to enable maximal extraction of spatial, temporal and spectral information from electromagnetic brain signals, an area of constant research and development. Spectral analyses involving FFTs have been widely used for the analysis of neurophysiological signals (Bruns, 2004). However the FFT, which is a time-frequency transformation of the measured signal, does not cater for variations in the statistical properties of the data with time, making it unsuitable for nonstationary signals. For this reason this analysis is often carried out repeatedly with a sliding time window to provide a continuous evaluation of spectral parameters with time. This method, known as the short time Fourier transform (STFT), is very useful in the study of brain dynamics (Bruns, 2004). An alternative to the STFT is the wavelet transform (WT), which can represent finite, nonperiodic and/or non-stationary signals. The idea of the WT is to convolve the measured signal with a number of oscillatory filter kernels, each representing different frequency bands. In this way the temporal characteristics of a signal are represented by its spectral components in the frequency domain. WTs provide a higher time-frequency resolution than the STFT but they take much longer to compute (Gramatikov and Georgiev, 1995). These analyses provide spectral parameters such as amplitude and phase, from which a variety of important coupling measures, such as coherence and phase synchrony, can be derived.

Coherence, however, does not separate the effects of amplitude and phase in the interrelation between two signals. Lachaux et al. (1999) discuss the limitations of coherence as a tool to indicate brain interactions, namely that coherence can be applied only to stationary signals and that it does not specifically quantify phase relationships. Coherence increases with amplitude covariance, although the relative contribution of amplitude and phase correlations in the coherence value is not clear. As coherence mixes the amplitude information with that of phase, it is not considered suitable for the detection of phase locking of brain oscillators. For these reasons, phase synchrony - a measure that indicates whether the phase shift between two channels is close to a constant over the specified time interval – is used as a separate measure. Here, the phase component is obtained separately from the amplitude component for a given frequency (Tcheslavski and Beex, 2006). Phase locking is in fact sufficient to conclude that two brain signals interact.

Finally, it is argued that measuring coherence and phase synchrony directly from scalp recordings, which are only a diffused representation of the actual brain sources, leads to cohesive/synchronous results that may be spurious due to volume conduction effects (Delorme et al., 2002). This can be avoided by applying these measures to sources derived from BSS

S.J. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

techniques since these sources are said to be maximally independent. ICA removes the background coherence by eliminating the "crosstalk" caused by volume conduction, and by separating unrelated noise sources while maintaining the same time resolution as the recorded EEG/MEG.

3. Putative mechanisms for default-mode-related dysfunction in mental disorder

DMN abnormalities may take a number of different forms and be implicated in a number of different ways in the pathophysiology of mental disorder. Here we outline some putative mechanisms of potential significance for the study of the causal pathways to mental disorder. All empirical research described in the following section refers to resting state fMRI data unless otherwise stated.

3.1. Default-mode interference during task performance

The ability to maintain attentional focus and resist distraction or lapses of attention is conventionally considered to underlie higher order top-down control. To date, research examining focused and sustained attention has concentrated on goal-directed and task-specific information processing (Kingstone et al., 2003; Smilek et al., 2006). Deficits in attentional control are most commonly interpreted in terms of fluctuations in attention due to limited resources for effortful control arising from either state or trait factors, and/or their interaction (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). Recently, two groups have suggested that the DMN may represent a mechanism underlying deficient top-down attentional control (Mason et al., 2007; Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). Both perspectives predict that attentional lapses during goal-directed action may be a result of interference arising from spontaneous, and most likely self-referential, thought.

In accord with Fox et al. (2005) who suggest that spontaneous low frequency activity of the DMN may interfere with task-specific attention and contribute to impaired task performance, Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos have proposed the default-mode interference hypothesis (2007) which states:

Spontaneous low frequency activity in the task-negative component of the default-mode network which is routinely attenuated during goal directed tasks, can under certain circumstances (e.g. suboptimal motivational states or in individuals with attention disorders) persist into or remerge during periods of task-related active processing to such an extent that it competes with task-specific neural processing and creates the context for periodic attentional intrusions/lapses and cyclical deficits in performance; the temporal signatures of task-negative fluctuations being mirrored in patterns of attention and performance (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007, p. 981)

The default-mode interference hypothesis argues that in the context of a normally functioning system, the task-negative DMN component will be attenuated during goal-directed action, and that this attenuation should be independent of task content with the exception of modulations in cognitive load, under sustained or focused attention requirements, and during tasks that involve functions subserved by the DMN. Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos suggest that the degree and maintenance of attenuation will relate specifically to both state factors such as motivation, and trait factors, such as disorder. Further, it is postulated that a threshold may exist under which the task-negative component of the DMN may persist during task-specific activity without impinging on task performance, but over which cyclical attentional lapses will transpire. Expressly, where the magnitude of the low-frequency

task-negative oscillations exceed the threshold, lapses in attention will be caused by intrusions of introspective thought which produce increased variability in task performance. Importantly, due to the synchronisation between the fluctuations in the task-negative component of the DMN and associated increases in introspective thought, attentional lapses and performance variability will have the temporal signature of 0.01 < Hz < 0.1. The default-mode interference hypothesis also highlights the importance of efficacious *transition* from rest to task. Four influential components which moderate such a transition are described: affinity to the default-mode, affinity to the goal-directed state or intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation and the accessibility and degree of cognitive effort (see Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007, p. 983).

Similarly, the notion of wandering minds (Mason et al., 2007) postulates that 'mind wandering' denotes a psychological baseline when the brain is otherwise disengaged, and from which individuals will transfer during a goal-directed action. Mason and colleagues report an association between DMN activity and an increased incidence of task-unrelated thought that persists during tasks with low cognitive demands, and may present as a source of interference during more engaging goal-directed activity. Importantly, Mason et al. (2007) do not suggest that the content or purpose of mind wandering represents an adaptive mechanism, but rather that the brain's ability to effectively and concurrently manage multiple tasks has evolved, and minds wandered simply because they can. In a comment on the 'wandering minds' hypothesis, Gilbert et al. (2007) refer to their previous findings of increased MPFC activity on trials with faster RTs, which they argue implicates the DMN in terms of a perceptual function, and highlight the importance of considering DMN activity in terms of stimulus-orientated rather than exclusively task-unrelated thought. The notion of wandering minds provides another possible theory of attentional lapses during task performance, and it is conceivable that generalised deficits in attention and cognitive control may well coincide with an increased incidence of stimulusindependent thought or mind wandering and the intrusion of increased activity in the DMN.

In psychopathology, atypical patterns of anti-correlations between the DMN and task-positive network, decreased connectivity between DMN regions and altered patterns of DMN function are all implicated in the symptomatic intrusion of the DMN in task-specific neural processing, resulting lapses in attention and effects of performance variability. The precise clinical manifestations of each of these notions will be demarcated in the following section.

3.2. Altered patterns of antagonism between the task-positive network and DMN

Perhaps one of the most important themes developing in DMN research is the significance of the antagonistic relationship between the DMN and task-positive network in normal functioning systems. Indeed, a number of authors have suggested that it is this reciprocal relationship that may be of more scientific interest than default-mode activity per se (Fox et al., 2005). If the efficacy of such anti-correlations is important for overall functioning in a normal population, it is likely that altered patterns of antagonism will be manifest in mental disorder. There is developing evidence that this might be so.

In a group of schizophrenic patients, Zhou et al. (2007) reported significantly increased resting state connectivity in the task-positive network and DMN in the patient group, alongside significantly increased anti-correlations between the networks. These results were more specifically associated with bilateral

dorsal MPFC, inferior temporal gyrus, and lateral parietal region in the DMN; and right dorsal lateral PFC and bilateral insula and orbital frontal gyrus in the task-positive network. The authors argue that the increased anti-correlations reflect increased antagonism and excessive competition between the networks, and most likely contribute to the over-mentalising and deficit in attentional control symptomatic of schizophrenia. More interestingly, reduced anti-correlations were evident between the right dorsal premotor cortex and the PCC and bilateral parietal region of the DMN and suggest that the right dorsal premotor cortex may be instructive in mediating the anti-correlation between the DMN and task-positive networks (Zhou et al., 2007).

In contrast to an increased anti-correlation between networks in a schizophrenic patient group, Kennedy and Courchesne (2008) report no significant anti-correlations in a sample of individuals with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). This patient group did not show any abnormal patterns of connectivity in the task-positive network, but did show reduced connectivity in the DMN mainly associated with the MPFC. Notably, these findings were unaffected by IQ and medication. Kennedy and Courchesne (2008) interpret these results as an imbalance between the task-positive and DMN networks, and suggest that this may bias an individual with ASD toward non-social and emotional processing styles. Moreover, it is suggested that such a neural bias may exist from a young age, affecting the developmental trajectory of social and emotional processing (Kennedy and Courchesne, 2008).

Similarly, resting state BOLD fMRI scans revealed a reduced anticorrelation in an ADHD population relative to controls, thought to relate to attentional lapses and performance variability symptomatic of this disorder (Castellanos et al., 2008). Indeed, in a normal population, intra-individual variation in the strength of the anticorrelation between the DMN and task-positive components is related to behavioural variability in a flanker task, particularly for more cognitively demanding stimuli (Kelly et al., 2008). Specifically, stronger anti-correlations between the networks were related to more consistent behavioural performance, highlighting the behavioural significance of the anti-correlation between DMN and taskrelated activation of the task-positive component. That previous research has emphasised the clinical significance of intra-individual variability in (flanker) task performance (e.g. Castellanos et al., 2005; Klein et al., 2006), provides impetus for future research investigating the temporal and oscillatory anti-correlations between the DMN and task-positive brain activity, and association with intra-individual variability in task performance. Although an aside, and in consideration of possible ameliorating effects on attention, Hahn et al. (2007) reported nicotine to increase deactivation within the DMN for task-specific cues, indicating increased preparation and improvements in attentional control (Hahn et al., 2007). This provides very preliminary evidence that the DMN may be mediated, and attention improved with psychopharmacological intervention.

These results are demonstrative of the importance of regulated competition between the task-positive and DMN networks, and provide initial support for the conjectured significance of altered patterns of antagonism between the networks. In this sense, excessive rivalry between the functions subserved by the networks and associated neural processing, will be accompanied by cyclical fluctuations in attention and deficits in goal-directed action. Generally, this will manifest as an attentional deficit. Comparatively, reduced anti-correlations reflect disparity between the networks, and may arise from dysfunction in one or both of the networks, most likely indicating aberrant DMN activity. Finally, the default-mode interference hypothesis (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007) and the notion of wandering minds (Mason et al., 2007) provide a context in which such findings can be further investigated through a programme of systematic research.

3.3. Altered connectivity suggesting altered integrity of the default-mode functional network

Altered connectivity is a conspicuous characteristic of the altered integrity of the DMN and affiliated functions in mental disorder and also aging in the resting state (Damoiseaux et al., 2008) and during semantic classification task performance (Andrews-Hanna et al., 2007). In Alzheimer's disease, connectivity between the right hippocampus and many component regions of the DMN, including the dorsal MPFC, ventral ACC, middle temporal gyrus (MTG) and the right PCC is reduced (Wang et al., 2006), and likely relates to a dysfunction of working memory and attentional processes. Similarly, although one study has reported increased resting state functional connectivity within the DMN in adolescents with ADHD (Tian et al., 2006), more commonly, aberrant functional connectivity between the anterior (e.g. MFPC and superior frontal gyrus) and posterior (e.g. PCC/precuneus) components of the DMN is observed (Castellanos et al., 2008; Uddin et al., 2008a). Castellanos et al. (2008) speculate that this atypical pattern of connectivity may reflect neural underpinnings of an altered relationship between working memory and attentional control.

In autism, connectivity is reduced within the DMN, particularly between the ACC and PCC, reflecting disturbance of self-referential and emotional processing (Cherkassky et al., 2006; Kennedy and Courchesne, 2008; Kennedy et al., 2006). Significantly, such an interpretation is congruous with normal levels of connectivity in the task-positive network of this clinical group (Kennedy and Courchesne, 2008).

Finally, in schizophrenia, increased connectivity between the DMN and other resting state networks suggests greater dependence on other resting state networks, most likely associated with increased distraction due to hallucinations and delusional experiences (Jafri et al., 2008). Moreover, increased connectivity within the DMN and task-positive network in schizophrenic patients at rest implies that these individuals are susceptible to over-mentalising and excessive alertness to the external environment, respectively (Zhou et al., 2007). In contrast, some research has reported widespread decreased regional homogeneity in the DMN in schizophrenic patient groups (Liu et al., 2006).

Altered patterns of functional connectivity within the DMN and the task-positive network, may lead to dysfunctional associations between the affiliated psychological processes. Decreased connectivity between the anterior and posterior components of the DMN may well underlie deficits in self-referential processing, attentional control and working memory. In contrast, over zealous connectivity within the DMN and task-positive network, in addition to other resting state networks, instigates excessive introspective and extrospective processing. Indeed, aberrant increases in connectivity will likely manifest in delusional experience, over ardent mentalising, and attentional lapses due to the disproportionate involvement and interaction between the DMN and associated networks.

3.4. Altered patterns of DMN activity

Atypical patterns of DMN activity are apparent in a number of mental disorders, and are typically characterised by dysfunction of introspective mental processes. In schizophrenia, positive symptom severity was correlated with increased deactivation in the MFG, precuneus, and the left MTG in an oddball task (Garrity et al., 2007), while impaired self-monitoring processes and stimulus-independent thought have been associated with abnormal low frequency resting state connectivity (Bluhm et al., 2007; Liang et al., 2006). In autism however, atypical or reduced self-referential, affective and introspective thought is associated with

S.J. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

low activation of the DMN in the resting state. Additionally, atypical emotional processing in autism is notable by the absence of any functional activation of the medial orbital frontal component of the DMN during the processing of emotional compared with neutral words in a Stroop task (Kennedy et al., 2006). Indeed, reduced task-induced deactivation of the DMN during a number-word Stroop task has been associated with greater social impairment in participants with autism (Kennedy et al., 2006). More specifically, reduced DMN connectivity in autism is associated with the MPFC. It has been suggested that this altered pattern of DMN activity may influence the social, emotional and introspective deficits commonly associated with autism (Kennedy and Courchesne, 2008). In contrast, concrete, extrospective processing related to the task-positive network is seemingly unaffected in high-functioning autistic individuals (Kennedy and Courchesne, 2008). Kennedy and Courchesne (2008) postulate that the DMN may provide a neurocognitive framework in which the marked differences in social and emotional processing of individuals with autism may be under-

In depressed patients, the subgenal cingulate is a prominent region within the DMN and related to the length of depressive episode, while noticeably absent in the DMN of control participants (Greicius et al., 2007). Further, in this patient group increased connectivity between the DMN and the thalamus is argued to reflect increased interaction between the thalamus and subgenal cingulate due to increased emotional processing, at the expensive of executive functions (Greicius et al., 2007). In patients with anxiety disorders, reduced deactivation of MPFC and increased deactivation of the PCC is thought to be indicative of increased levels of anxiety (MPFC) and emotional processing (PCC) of task-specific threat words.

Importantly, differential task-specific deactivation of the DMN provides a point of comparison between the severity and type of mental disorder. The magnitude, timing and spatial characteristics of deactivation during a working memory task distinguished Alzheimer's from mildly cognitively impaired and control groups (Rombouts et al., 2005). Bai et al. (2008) have also reported decreased regional homogeneity in the PCC/precuneus in amnestic type mild cognitive impaired participants, while He et al. (2007) report similar findings in Alzheimer's patients. Notably, this effect correlated positively with disease progression as measured by the mini-mental state exam scores (He et al., 2007). Interestingly, altered deactivation is also evident in participants at genetic risk for developing Alzheimer's disease (Persson et al., 2008).

4. A systematic review of empirical studies of default-mode abnormalities and mental disorders

For this review, computerised searches were conducted using the Nature journals online, PubMed, Proquest 5000, Psycinfo and ScienceDirect databases. The following terms default-mode, resting state, low frequency oscillations, functional connectivity and task-positive network were entered into the databases. Further, the table of contents of journals that often publish articles relevant to this topic were also reviewed including Biological Psychiatry, Human Brain Mapping, Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, Nature Neuroscience, NeuroImage and Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, Finally, the reference lists of pertinent articles were also scanned for related studies. Given the focus on mental disorders, empirical research examining atypical DMN activity in the context of multiple sclerosis (Lowe et al., 2002), Parkinson's disease (Tinaz et al., 2008), fragile X syndrome (Menon et al., 2004), hepatic cirrhosis (Zhang et al., 2007), and chronic pain (Baliki et al., 2008) was not considered. The following sections aim to provide a comprehensive and systematic review of empirical research of DMN abnormalities and mental disorder. The studies and their findings are summarized in Table 1, and interpreted in terms of the putative mechanisms described above.

4.1. Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment

In the context of the DMN. Alzheimer's disease is one of the most widely investigated pathologies, particularly in view of the putative association between the DMN and working memory (Buckner et al., 2005; Firbank et al., 2007; Greicius et al., 2004; He et al., 2007; Rombouts et al., 2005; Sorg et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2006). The impact of normal aging on the functional connectivity of DMN and related cognitive functions has also received recent research attention (e.g. Andrews-Hanna et al., 2007; Damoiseaux et al., 2008). Specifically, in a semantic classification task, low frequency functional connectivity between anterior (MPFC) and posterior (PCC/retrosplenial cortex) regions of the DMN was negatively associated with age, as were the magnitude of taskrelated deactivations (Andrews-Hanna et al., 2007). Moreover, there was a positive relationship between the strength of functional connectivity in the DMN and the magnitude of taskrelated deactivations. Investigation of the functional correlations within the dorsal anterior attention system revealed similar interactions with age (Andrews-Hanna et al., 2007). In a resting state study, Damoiseaux et al. (2008) report decreased BOLD signal in the anterior (including MFG) and posterior (including the PCC) regions of the DMN in older participants. The anterior aspect of the DMN was negatively correlated with age and related to cognitive decline in the older group (Damoiseaux et al., 2008). In earlier research employing a simple sensory-motor processing task, activity in the DMN was reduced in patients with Alzheimer's disease relative to controls, particularly in the PCC and medial temporal lobe (Greicius et al., 2004). In this study, ICA of resting state data revealed a significant role of the hippocampus in DMN activity, while goodness of fit analyses using a DMN template were able to delineate Alzheimer's participants from healthy elderly controls with a sensitivity of 85% and specificity of 77% (Greicius et al., 2004). A resting state study also intimating a prominent role of the hippocampus in the DMN activity of Alzheimer's disease patients revealed reduced functional connectivity between right hippocampus and MPFC, ventral ACC, inferotemporal cortex, right cuneus, right superior and MTG and PCC in the patient group, although a concurrent increase in connectivity between the left hippocampus and the right DLPFC was also observed (Wang et al., 2006). This has been interpreted as reflecting compensatory processes as patients attempt to overcome cognitive and performance deficits (Wang et al., 2006).

Moreover, mildly cognitively impaired participants could be differentiated from healthy controls, and from Alzheimer's participants by the extent of deactivation of DMN regions including MFG, anterior cingulate gyrus and PCC/precuneus during a working memory task (Rombouts et al., 2005). Deactivation of frontal DMN regions was restricted (to medial frontal regions) in participants with mild cognitive impairment compared with controls, and even more significantly restricted (to ACC) in Alzheimer's patients, significantly differentiating them from the mildly cognitively impaired group (Rombouts et al., 2005). The phase of deactivation also distinguished control and patient groups, with an initial increase, followed by a decrease, in ACC and MFG in controls, with less early deactivation in the mildly cognitively impaired and Alzheimer's patients (Rombouts et al., 2005). Further, reduced resting state DMN connectivity (Sorg et al., 2007) and reductions in regional homogeneity over PCC/precuneus

S.I. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

Table 1A summary of empirical findings of altered DMN activity in individuals with mental disorders

Mental disorder	Measure	Task	DMN deactivation		Connectivity		Anti-correlation	DMN function
			Anterior	Posterior	DMN	TPN		
Alzheimer's disease								
Greicius et al. (2004)	fMRI-ICA	SM	_	_	1	_	_	_
Rombouts et al. (2005)	fMRI-ICA	WM	⊥ MCI & C	MCI < C	_	_	_	_
Buckner et al. (2005)	See text	WM	_	_	_	_	_	PCC at risk of atrophy
Wang et al. (2006)	fMRI-ROI	RS	_	_	1	_	_	-
Firbank et al. (2007)	MRI-FA	RS	_	_	į	_	_	Effect of global atrophy
He et al. (2007)	fMRI-ReHo	RS	-	_	↓ PCC	-	_	PCC related to MMSE
At risk of Alzheimer's								
Sorg et al. (2007) (MCI)	fMRI-ICA, ROI	RS	↓	1	↓	_	_	-
Bai et al. (2008) (MCI)	fMRI-ReHo	RS	_	_	į*	_	_	*Controlled for atrophy, age
Persson et al. (2008) (APOE4)	fMRI-ROI	Semantic	1	1	_	-	-	-
Schizophrenia								
Liang et al. (2006)	fMRI-parcellation	RS	_	_	↓	_	_	_
Bluhm et al. (2007)	fMRI-ROI	RS	_	_	į*	_	_	*Related to +ve symptoms
Garrity et al. (2007)	fMRI-ICA	Oddball	↑*	_	_	_	_	*Related to +ve symptoms
Zhou et al. (2007)	fMRI-ROI	RS	_	_	1	1	↑	-
Pomarol-Clotet et al. (2008)	fMRI-ICA	WM	↓MPFC*	-	_	_	_	*Unrelated to performance
Depression								
Greicius et al. (2007)	fMRI-ICA	RS	-	-	↑*	-	-	*Related to refractoriness
Anxiety								
Zhao et al. (2007)	fMRI-ROI	EPT	\downarrow	1	-	-	-	MPFC related to anxiety
Epilepsy								
Laufs et al. (2007) (no control)	EEG & fMRI	RS	↓*	↓*	-	_	-	*Related to IED in TLE
Lui et al. (2008) (GS, PS, C)	fMRI-GLM	RS	-	-	↓ PCC*	-	-	*GS patients only
ASD								
Cherkassky et al. (2006)	fMRI-ROI	RS	Non-sig	Non-sig	1	-	-	_
Kennedy et al. (2006)	fMRI-ROI	Stroop	1	1	-	_	-	-
Kennedy and Courchesne (2008)	fMRI-ROI	RS	-	-	↓*	Non-sig	\downarrow	*Specifically MPFC
ADHD								
Tian et al. (2006)	fMRI-ROI	RS	_	-	1	-	-	-
Cao et al. (2006)	fMRI-ReHo	RS	_	-	1	-	-	-
Castellanos et al. (2008)	fMRI-ROI	RS	-	-	1	-	1	-
Uddin et al. (2008a)	fMRI-NeHo	RS	-	-	↓*	-	-	*Specifically PCC
Helps et al. (2008)	DC-EEG	RS	_	-	1	-	-	=

Abbreviations and symbols used in this table: DMN, default-mode network; TPN, task-positive network; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging; EEG, electroencephalogram; ICA, independent component analysis; ROI, region-of-interest; ReHo, regional homogeneity, NeHo, network homogeneity; FA, fractional anisotropy; RS, resting-state; SM, sensory motor task; EPT, emotional processing task; WM, working memory task; ADHD, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; ASD, autism spectrum disorder; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; GS, generalised seizure patients; PS, partial seizure patients; C, controls; MMSE, mini mental state exam; (–) indicates that this was not tested; (†) reflects an increase, for DMN deactivation it refers to increased deactivation; (†) reflects a decrease, for DMN deactivation it refers to reduced deactivation; 'non-sig' indicates the groups did not differ significantly; (*) indicates association between DMN function and particular result. All results are considered in comparison to a normal control group unless otherwise specified.

have been observed in patients with mild amnesic cognitive impairment who are at risk of developing Alzheimer's disease (Bai et al., 2008) and patients with Alzheimer's disease (He et al., 2007).

A large study (n = 764) investigating atrophy in Alzheimer's disease compared data across two forms of PET, structural MRI and fMRI data in a group of Alzheimer's patients and young adults at rest and during a working memory task (Buckner et al., 2005). The DMN activity at rest in young adults was positively correlated with the pattern of amyloid deposits in elderly Alzheimer's patients, suggesting an association with brain metabolism (Buckner et al., 2005). Indeed, precuneus, PCC and retrosplenial cortex were thought to be preferentially vulnerable to atrophy (Buckner et al., 2005). In the resting state, global atrophy has also been associated with dementia disease progression and the disruption of white matter (as measured by fractional anisotropy) connecting the PCC and lateral parietal regions (Firbank et al., 2007). In addition, He et al. (2007) observed statistically significant decreases in resting state regional coherence of the low frequency bold fluctuations in the PCC/precuneus in Alzheimer's disease patients, even after PCC/ precuneus atrophy had been statistically controlled for. Although the results remained significant, they did decrease in statistical power, indicating that decreased regional coherence of the low frequency bold fluctuations in the PCC/precuenous may in part be explained by atrophy in Alzheimer's patients (He et al., 2007).

In light of altered deactivation of the DMN in Alzheimer's disease patients, and to a lesser extent, healthy older adults; Persson et al. (2008) investigated DMN activity during a semantic categorisation task in non-demented carriers of the apolipoprotein E4 (APOE4) allele. Genetic studies have shown an association between a functionally active APOE4 allele and Alzheimer's disease, and there is some evidence of reduced functional connectivity in APOE4 carriers (e.g. Lind et al., 2006). Persson et al. (2008) observed reduced task-induced deactivation of the MPFC, middle temporal cortex, medial parietal region, and right parietal lateral cortex in APOE4 carriers. The authors suggest that genetic susceptibility to AD may affect the magnitude of DMN deactivations. In addition, Persson et al. argue that individuals with a genetic risk for Alzheimer's disease may have a reduced ability to suspend DMN activity during an active task, or alternatively genetic risk may be related to reduced resting state metabolism

S.J. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

and/or structural changes. Furthermore, increased positive correlations were observed for the APOE4 group between right inferior PFC and MPFC and left middle temporal cortex. This was thought to reflect compensatory processes in the APOE4 group in line with the lack of performance differences. This may open up the possibility of early classification of pre-clinical Alzheimer's disease.

In a review of resting state fMRI research in Alzheimer's disease, Liu et al. (2008), suggest that altered patterns of functional connectivity in Alzhemier's patients may indicate a disconnection syndrome. In light of the mounting evidence, Wermke et al. (2008) propose a model to incorporate current findings of atypical default-mode activity in patients with Alzheimer's disease. In their model the brain operates from a given baseline to activate taskimportant regions, and deactivate regions unrelated to the particular task. This system begins to malfunction with advancing neuro-degenration, and fails to respond appropriately both in terms of task-specific activation and deactivation of the pertinent brain regions. The model is described in terms of a clock, in which the main hand of the clock reflects task performance and influenced by the strength of the task-specific activation response (Wermke et al., 2008). The efficacy of activation is governed by the baseline—a damaged baseline, in the case of mild cognitive impairment, will require greater cognitive effort to reach the relative activation signal strength of a 'healthy' baseline. More severely affected baselines in Alzheimer's disease patients, may not reach adequate activation signal strength, leading to a decline in cognitive performance. Task performance is also thought to be dependent on healthy deactivation of task-irrelevant brain regions to facilitate focused, task-related processes. It is argued, that effective task or cognitive performance relies on the coordination and collaboration of the activation and deactivation response, and if one component 'fails', the whole system is jeopardised (see Wermke et al., 2008).

In summary, reduced connectivity between MPFC and PCC regions of the DMN is associated with aging, and the anterior region of the DMN is correlated with cognitive decline. In Alzheimer's patients, the hippocampus features as a prominent node within the DMN and shows reduced connectivity with other DMN regions. Indeed, there is increasing evidence that the DMN, particularly the anterior components, might provide a clinically instructive instrument in the differential diagnosis of Alzheimer's patients, patients with mild cognitive impairment, and those with a genetic risk of developing Alzheimer's disease, from controls. Finally, due to the high metabolism of DMN regions, and particularly the PCC/precuneus, these regions are particularly vulnerable to atrophy in Alzheimer's patients, although reduced functional connectivity in the DMN of patients cannot be completely explained by atrophy.

4.2. Schizophrenia

Atypical functional connectivity in resting state networks, particularly the DMN, has also been observed in schizophrenic patients (Bluhm et al., 2007; Calhoun et al., 2008; Garrity et al., 2007; Jafri et al., 2008; Liang et al., 2006; Pomarol-Clotet et al., 2008; Williamson, 2007; Zhou et al., 2007). Initial research reported widespread and non-specific disconnectivity in schizophrenic patients in an eyes closed resting condition (Liang et al., 2006). Despite quite a substantial overlap in their sample, the same group subsequently reported increased resting state functional connectivity within the DMN and task-positive network, consistent with increased anti-correlations between these networks in paranoid schizophrenic participants (Zhou et al., 2007). Such disparity is likely the result of the different analytical techniques used to measure functional connectivity, and the heterogeneity of

this disorder (Zhou et al., 2007). Increased connectivity within the DMN and task-positive network suggests paranoid schizophrenics demonstrate increased sensitivity to both the external environment and self-referential or introspective thought. The strength of the anti-correlation between these two networks also indicates that these processes are in excessive competition for this patient group (Zhou et al., 2007).

In an n-back working memory task, Pomarol-Clotet et al. (2008) report reduced activation of the DLPFC in patients with schizophrenia to be a function of impaired task performance. In contrast, a reduced deactivation of the DMN in the medial frontal area was not found to be dependent on task performance (Pomarol-Clotet et al., 2008). ICA analysis has also revealed differences in both spatial and temporal connectivity of the DMN during an auditory oddball task (Garrity et al., 2007). In this study, and in contrast to Pomarol-Clotet et al. (2008), schizophrenic patients showed greater deactivation of the DMN in the frontal gyrus, and decreased activation of the ACC relative to controls, potentially related to attentional deficits observed in schizophrenia (Garrity et al., 2007). Moreover, a greater section of parahippocampal gyrus was included in the DMN for patients, and while low-frequency oscillations (0.03 Hz) in the DMN were evident for controls, patients showed significantly higher frequency oscillations (0.08– 0.24 Hz). Finally, greater deactivation in the MFG, precuneus, and the left MTG were correlated with positive symptoms of schizophrenia (Garrity et al., 2007).

Consistent with the task-related findings of Garrity et al. (2007), disconnectivity of the low-frequency oscillatory (<0.1 Hz) activity in the PCC, medial prefrontal, lateral parietal and cerebellar regions during rest has also been observed in another two studies examining this clinical group during rest (Bluhm et al., 2007) and during a similar auditory oddball task (Calhoun et al., 2008). Although in contrast, a recent finding of increased connectivity between the DMN and other resting state networks using spatial ICA, has been hypothesised to reflect distraction and hallucinatory experiences of schizophrenic patients (Jafri et al., 2008). The relationship between the apparent self-monitoring function of regions within the DMN and schizophrenia provide impetus for future research. However, the disparity in methodologies and findings highlight the need for methodological consistency if we are to properly understand the association between functional connectivity in the DMN and underlying mechanisms that give rise to the symptomology of schizophrenia (Williamson, 2007).

In summary, greater connectivity in the DMN and task-positive network in schizophrenic patients may reflect 'over-zealous' attentional orientation to introspective and extrospective thought, while the increased anti-correlation between these two networks suggests excessive rivalry or antagonism between the neural processing and associated psychological functions of these networks. Increased deactivation of specific DMN regions including MFG and precuneus was associated with the positive symptoms of schizophrenia, while reduced deactivation of ACC was suggested to be associated with reduced attentional control.

4.3. Depression and anxiety

The ruminative, self-referential focus of depressed patients has led to predictions of differences between this clinical group and controls in terms of DMN connectivity (Greicius et al., 2007). Following ICA analysis of resting state fMRI data, subgenual cingulate was found to contribute disproportionally to the connectivity of the DMN in this patient group, with increases in connectivity associated with depression refractoriness, or the length of the current depressive episode (Greicius et al., 2007). There was also increased functional connectivity in the thalamus

during rest. Greicius et al. (2007) suggest that increased connectivity in 'affective' regions may detrimentally affect connectivity in regions associated with cognitive processing such as the dorsal anterior cingulate (Greicius et al., 2007).

Interestingly, in an investigation of DMN connectivity during an emotional processing task, no difference in the deactivation of the DMN was evident between a group of anxiety patients or controls when emotionally neutral words were alternated with rest. In contrast, when threat words were alternated with emotionally neutral words, anxiety patients demonstrated reduced deactivation of the MPFC and increased deactivation of the PCC relative to controls (Zhao et al., 2007). These results may reflect increased anxiety levels and more extensive memory processing of threat words, respectively (Zhao et al., 2007).

In summary, the subgenual cingulate was specific to the DMN of depressed patients, and is associated with the length of depressive episode. Anxiety was associated with reduced deactivation of the MPFC, although whether this relates to a specific dysfunction of the DMN is questionable.

4.4. Epilepsy

In an interesting combination of EEG and fMRI methodology, deactivation of the DMN, particularly in PCC/precuneus, and left and right parietal lobes was evident during interictal epileptic discharges in a group of awake but relaxed, temporal lobe epileptics (Laufs et al., 2007). Similar deactivation was not observed for extra-temporal lobe epileptic patients, thought to be either a result of reduced EEG sensitivity to interictal epileptic discharges in this group, or differences in the primary pathology (Laufs et al., 2007). Laufs et al. (2007) suggest that their findings may not be specific to epilepsy, but instead reflect altered mental states in general. Conversely, they argue that the transient cognitive impairments and performance deficits associated with temporal lobe epilepsy may be associated with dysfunction of the DMN. In accord with the latter proposition, Lui et al. (2008) report a lack of resting state low frequency activation of PCC/precuneus in patients with generalised seizures compared to controls, but no difference between controls and patients with partial seizures. The authors acknowledge that although it is difficult to determine whether aberrant DMN activation is a consequence or antecedent of the spike and slowwave discharges symptomatic of generalised seizure patients, it may explain at least in part, why generalised seizure patients demonstrate greater cognitive impairment (Lui et al., 2008).

4.5. Autism spectrum disorder

Altered patterns of introspective thought, social and emotional processing characteristic of this disorder are reflected in aberrant deactivation of the DMN of ASD patients (Cherkassky et al., 2006; Kennedy and Courchesne, 2008; Kennedy et al., 2006). In three versions of the Stroop task, adult autistic participants failed to show evidence of deactivation of the DMN, although there was little evidence of a difference in task performance between the groups (Kennedy et al., 2006). It is hypothesised that midline DMN activity is actually low at rest in autistic patients, and that abnormal preoccupations that are symptomatic of this spectrum of disorders and occur during the resting state, are concrete rather than affective in nature (Kennedy et al., 2006). Nonetheless, Cherkassky et al. (2006) did not report any differences between an autistic and control group in DMN activation during rest. However, they did observe decreased resting state functional connectivity between ACC and PCC, and in line with Kennedy et al. (2006), propose that there is an absence of self-referential thought in autism. A more recent resting state study reported reduced functional connectivity in DMN but not the task-positive network in an adult autistic sample (Kennedy and Courchesne, 2008). Specifically, reduced connectivity was localised to MPFC and left angular gyrus, and while the DMN and task-positive networks were significantly anti-correlated in controls, no such anti-correlation was observed in the ASD group.

Intriguingly, activity within the task-positive network did not differentiate autism, while abnormalities in the DMN were observed and related specifically to reduced connectivity in MPFC, which is associated with social and emotional processing. Moreover, the lack of anti-correlation between the networks in autism may indicate an imbalance in the toggling of these networks (Kennedy and Courchesne, 2008). Finally, it has been postulated that a deficit in the mirror neuron network is associated with DMN dysregulation in autism, suggesting that this disorder may arise from an atypical processing of self and relationship with others (Jacoboni, 2006).

In summary, DMN activity in autistic patients is thought to be low at rest, with reduced connectivity between anterior and posterior DMN regions probably reflecting a disturbance of self-referential thought. In contrast to altered connectivity in the DMN, connectivity in the task-positive network appears normal in autism. Moreover, the absence of an anti-correlation between the DMN and task-positive networks, suggests an imbalance in the toggling between these networks, driven by a paucity of introspective thought.

4.6. Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder

Attentional lapses, commonly observed in the task performance of individuals with ADHD, may point to a role for DMN interference in ADHD. Tian et al. (2006) was the first to examine functional connectivity within the DMN at rest for adolescents with ADHD, using ACC as the seed region. In this study, increased functional connectivity with dorsal ACC was observed for bilateral dorsal ACC, bilateral thalamus, bilatertal cerebellum, bilateral insula and bilateral brain stem in the ADHD compared to control group. Tian et al. suggest that this increased connectivity in the ADHD group may reflect abnormalities in the autonomic control functions associated with these regions (Tian et al., 2006), although alternative interpretations include an increased affinity with the DMN (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). In contrast to Tian et al. (2006); Castellanos et al. (2008) have reported reductions in the resting state anti-correlation between dorsal ACC and PCC/ precuneus in an adult ADHD group. In controls, PCC/precuneus activity correlated positively with other regions in the DMN. In the ADHD group, the anterior component of the DMN was markedly absent, with significant group differences in medial PFC, superior frontal gyrus and also in PCC/precuneus. Specifically, the ADHD group showed less negatively correlated functional activity in the ACC, MFG and superior temporal gyrus. Given this reduced resting state functional connectivity between the anterior and posterior regions of the DMN may indicate a relationship between working memory deficits and attentional lapses in ADHD (Castellanos et al., 2008). In a similar resting state study using a network homogeneity measure of functional connectivity, adult ADHD and control groups did not differ on global measures of DMN homogeneity, although significantly reduced network homogeneity in the posterior regions of the DMN, particularly the precuneus was observed in the ADHD group (Uddin et al., 2008a). Despite differences in methodology, these findings substantiate those of Castellanos et al. (2008), and suggest that decreased functional interactions between the anterior and posterior regions of the DMN may underlie some of the executive function deficits observed in the ADHD population (Uddin et al., 2008a).

S.J. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

Cao et al. (2006) investigated spontaneous, low frequency resting state fMRI data in children with ADHD using the regional homogeneity method described by Zang et al. (2004). This study reported decreased regional homogeneity in fronto-striatalcerebellar circuits in the ADHD group, specifically in regions that included bilateral inferior frontal gyrus, right inferior ACC, left caudate, bilateral pyramis and left precuneus (Cao et al., 2006). Based on this work and others from the same group (e.g. Tian et al., 2006), Zhu et al. (2008) employed Fisher discriminative analysis on regional homogeneity measures of resting state brain activity in children with ADHD, and reported a correct classification rate of 85% using leave-one-out cross validation, and a sensitivity and specificity of 78% and 91%, respectively. In another alternative method of measuring low frequency fluctuations in the BOLD signal, Zang et al. (2007) measure the amplitude of the fluctuations in resting state fMRI data, and observed reduced amplitudes in children with ADHD in the right inferior frontal cortex, bilateral cerebellum and vermis. Children with ADHD also showed increased amplitudes in the right ACC, left lateral cerebellum, left fusiform gyrus, right inferior temporal gyrus, left sensorimotor cortex and bilateral brain stem (Zang et al., 2007). Recent research has reported reduced power in low frequency resting state networks (0.06-0.2 Hz) as measured by DC EEG in a non-clinical sample of hyperactive participants who rated themselves as inattentive (Helps et al., 2008). This result differentiated the aforementioned group from hyperactive participants who did not rate themselves as inattentive and normal controls, and highlights the association between attentional control and the DMN, and the importance of future research in clinical populations such as ADHD (Helps et al., 2008).

In summary, ADHD appears to be associated with altered patterns of connectivity within the DMN, likely related to abnormal fronto-striatal-cerebellar circuits, this as well as atypical antagonism between the DMN and task-positive networks may underpin the pathophysiology of this clinical group. In particular, altered DMN connectivity is mostly likely related to the attentional lapses, working memory deficits and task performance variability symptomatic of ADHD.

5. Integration and future directions

In the current paper we have considered the relevance of the DMN in relation to mental disorders. There are a number of important observations that may be drawn from the preceding sections, which have significance for theoretical models of psychopathology and provide directions for future research.

5.1. Putative mechanisms

Table 1 shows the coverage of research into the different mechanisms discussed in Section 3. There are obvious important observations. First, although only a few studies considered the anti-correlation between the DMN and task-positive network, the significance of altered patterns of activity in mental disorder are highlighted in ASD, ADHD and schizophrenia. These findings emphasise the importance of regulated competition between these networks in a normally functioning system. In mental disorder, the absence of, or reductions in, the anti-correlation between the DMN and task-positive network manifest as reduced introspective thought (ASD) and attentional lapses (ADHD); while excessive antagonism will likely result in zealous toggling between extrospective and introspective processes (schizophrenia). Second, the integrity of the DMN is affected by reductions in connectivity, and is associated with deficits in attention and working memory (Alzheimer's disease, ADHD, schizophrenia), as well as problems with self-referential and introspective mental processing (ASD). In contrast, increased connectivity has been associated with maladaptive emotional and introspective processing (depression, schizophrenia). Third, altered patterns of DMN functional connectivity commonly characterise dysfunctional introspective processing – connectivity in the DMN is negatively related to the positive symptoms of schizophrenia, while enhanced connectivity in the subgenual cingulate is associated with the length of depressive episode. Finally, altered patterns of connectivity, atypical anti-correlations between the DMN and task-positive network, and reduced integrity of DMN functions, observed in a range of mental disorders, are all potential and pervasive sources of interference during goal-directed activity.

5.2. Aetiology

The aetiology of the altered DMN in mental disorder remains unclear. Indeed, the underlying neurochemistry, and potential genetic and environmental effects on DMN function have been rarely examined in the context of normal functioning systems or mental disorder. One study investigated resting state concentrations of GABA in the ACC, and observed an association between GABA concentrations and the strength of the negative BOLD response in the ACC during an emotional processing task (Northoff et al., 2007). Dopamine, a second potential neurochemical modulator of DMN activity, has been reported to mediate low frequency oscillations of the BOLD response (Achard and Bullmore, 2007; Honey et al., 2003). Following attenuated dopamine transmission, Achard and Bullmore (2007) observed detrimental effects on connectivity in global and local networks. In view of the role of dopamine in the mediation of goal-directed activity in ADHD (Tripp and Wickens, 2008), and previous reports of dopaminergic drugs and the modulation of low frequency fluctuations in the BOLD response, future research in the context of the DMN is warranted.

There is also preliminary evidence for a role of genetics in altered patterns of DMN connectivity in individuals at genetic risk of developing Alzheimer's disease (Persson et al., 2008). Notably, mental disorders which show atypical patterns of DMN activity such as schizophrenia, ASD and ADHD, are also thought to have strong genetic components. The role of genetics in altered patterns of DMN activity should be explored further within the context of current perspectives on psychopathology. Moreover, the association between altered DMN activity in mental disorder and the potential role of environmental influences also requires consideration. Future research could explore the potential influence of environmental factors, such as social and emotional relationships with peers and family and parental style particularly in relation to disorders such as ASD and ADHD development, on the normal functioning of the DMN. A systematic approach is required to explore the aetiology of altered DMN activity in mental disorder.

5.3. Methodology

The DMN literature to date has explored this concept using PET, fMRI and EEG methodologies. Functional connectivity and the deactivation of the DMN during goal-directed activity have been most commonly explored in terms of low frequency fluctuations in the BOLD signal. In Section 2 we explored the strength and weakness of each technology, and we introduced MEG, highlighting the high temporal and spatial resolution of MEG as an important tool for future research in the DMN. Alternatively, simultaneous fMRI and EEG recordings permit the profitable association of the high temporal resolution of EEG with the high spatial resolution of fMRI data. Such research has reported

intriguing correlations between a range of EEG frequency bands and DMN activity. Finally, DC EEG provides another promising avenue for future DMN research, allowing assessment of very low frequency EEG oscillations in relation to the DMN. One study has provided preliminary evidence of the utility of such a measure in non-clinical hyperactive participants (Helps et al., 2008), however further research is necessary. A well-defined methodological protocol within each of these technologies will facilitate the efficacious comparison of research findings and aid explication of DMN differences in clinical populations.

5.4. Analysis

Section 2 also highlighted a number of key analytical issues within each of the previously described methodologies. The issues inherent with performing temporal, spatial and spectral analysis on high density neurophysiological recordings are not trivial, and are compounded due to the presence of artifact and multiple underlying brain sources coupled with volume conduction effects. ICA as a specific BSS method has been identified as a technique that can handle the high-density recordings, and the presence of artifacts to discriminate between multiple underlying brain sources. Within fMRI, functional connectivity within the DMN and task-positive network has been examined using ICA, ROI (seed region) approaches, an amplitude measure of low frequency fluctuations, regional homogeneity and network homogeneity which examine the correlation between a given voxel and all other voxels within a predefined region or network, respectively. While region of interest approaches require a priori selection of the seed region, approaches such as ICA are not constrained by a priori hypotheses. ICA is also useful in the delineation and effective removal of non-neuronal noise (and other artifacts), although caveats of ICA include the difficulty of data interpretation for functional comparisons across subjects and between groups (see Fox and Raichle, 2007, for a review).

5.5. Clinical relevance

The wealth of empirical research into altered patterns of DMN activity in mental disorder has highlighted the potential clinical relevance of the DMN for contemporary models of psychopathology. There are a number of specific findings that demonstrate the utility of the DMN in clinical research for purposes of differential diagnosis. Firstly, the efficacious transition between rest to task and deactivation of the DMN during goal-directed activity is particularly susceptible to dysfunction in mental disorders characterised by attentional deficits (e.g. ADHD and schizophrenia). Secondly, functional connectivity in the DMN and taskpositive networks may highlight problems of reduced connectivity in the DMN (e.g. ASD) and/or task-positive networks, or excess connectivity in one or both of these networks (e.g. schizophrenia). Third, the reciprocal relationship and strength of the anticorrelation between the task-positive and DMN components also appears to be a useful instrument in discerning clinically specific vulnerabilities in introspective and extrospective orienting in a number of mental disorders (e.g. ADHD: Castellanos et al., 2008; ASD: Kennedy and Courchesne, 2008; schizophrenia: Zhou et al., 2008). Finally, the functional heterogeneity of regions within the DMN and task-positive network should also be noted, alongside the congruence between the functional role associated with these regions and their relationship with particular clinical pathologies (e.g. anxiety and MPFC: Zhao et al., 2007; depression and subgenal cingulate: Greicius et al., 2007). The extent to which the DMN may be a potentially significant clinical tool warrants further research, although current evidence suggests the DMN is relevant to models of mental disorder. Prospectively, the DMN may prove valuable in differential diagnosis, and provide an opportunity through which new and existing treatments may be explored.

6. In conclusion

In recent years there has been a surge of scientific interest in resting state brain function and the DMN. This interest has extended to the altered patterns of DMN activity in individuals with mental disorder. In the current paper we have described some putative mechanisms for default-mode related dysfunction in mental disorder and have attempted to draw out the potential significance of these for theoretical models of psychopathology. Future research should now focus on a systematic exploration of the DMN in the context of contemporary models of psychopathology. Empirical research should examine current predictions of the role of DMN in mental disorder, such as the default-mode interference hypothesis (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). In particular, the anti-correlation and toggling between task positive and DMN components and the transition from rest to task warrants further exploration, and particularly with regard to comparisons of normal and aberrant transitioning between these states (Sonuga-Barke and Castellanos, 2007). Moreover explication of the maintenance of goal-directed attention and the attenuation of interference from the DMN should be examined in future work with reference to trial-to-trial variability in task performance so often observed in clinical populations (Kelly et al., 2008). Evidently, variations in the cognitive requirements of the experimental tasks will necessarily delineate particular vulnerabilities in clinical populations, and the resultant effects on efficacious task performance, including DMN attenuation and toggling with task-positive network. Finally, as some mental disorders are known to develop in early childhood, future research should systematically explore the developmental trajectory of the DMN in a normal population and compare this with the maturation of the DMN in clinical populations, such as in children with ADHD and ASD.

References

- Achard, S., Bullmore, E., 2007. Efficiency and cost of economical brain functional networks. PLoS Comput. Biol. 3, 174–183.
- Andrews-Hanna, J.R., Snyder, A.Z., Vincent, J.L., Lustig, C., Head, D., Raichle, M.E., Buckner, R.L., 2007. Disruption of large-scale brain systems in advanced aging. Neuron 56, 924–935.
- Bai, F., Zhang, Z., Yu, H., Shi, Y., Yuan, Y., Zhu, W., Zhang, X., Qian, Y., 2008. Default-mode network activity distinguishes amnestic type mild cognitive impairment from healthy aging: a combined structural and resting-state functional MRI study. Neurosci. Lett. 438, 111–115.
- Baliki, M.N., Geha, P.A., Apkarian, A.V., Chialvo, D.R., 2008. Beyond feeling: chronic pain hurts the brain, disrupting default-mode network dynamics. J. Neurosci. 28, 1398–1403.
- Beckmann, C.F., DeLuca, M., Devlin, J.T., Smith, S.M., 2005. Investigations into resting-state connectivity using independent component analysis. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 360.
- Birn, R.M., Diamond, J.B., Smith, M.A., Bandettini, P.A., 2006. Separating respiratory-variation-related fluctuations from neuronal-activity-related fluctuations in fMRI. NeuroImage 31, 1536–1548.
- Birn, R.M., Murphy, K., Bandettini, P.A., 2008. The effect of respiration variations on independent component analysis results of resting state functional connectivity. Hum. Brain Mapp. 29, 740–750.
- Biswal, B.B., Yetkin, F.Z., Haughton, V.M., Hyde, J.S., 1995. Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. Magn. Reson. Med. 34, 537–541.
- Blakemore, S., 2008. The social brain in adolescence. Nat. Neurosci. 9, 267–277.
 Bluhm, R.L., Miller, J., Lanius, R.A., Osuch, E.A., Boksman, K., Neufeld, R.W.J., Théberge, J., Schaefer, B., Williamson, P., 2007. Spontaneous low-frequency fluctuations in the BOLD signal in schizophrenic patients: anomalies in the default network. Schizophr. Bull. 33, 1004–1012.
- Bluhm, R.L., Osuch, E.A., Lanius, R.A., Boksman, K., Neufeld, R.W.J., Théberge, J., Williamson, P., 2008. Default mode network connectivity: effects of age, sex, and analytic approach. NeuroReport 19, 887–891.

- Bosboom, J.L.W., Stoffers, D., Stam, C.J., van Dijk, B.W., Verbunt, J., Berendse, H.W., Wolters, E., 2006. Resting state oscillatory brain dynamics in Parkinson's disease: an MEG study. Clin. Neurophysiol. 117, 2521-2531
- Bruns, A., 2004. Fourier-, hilbert- and wavelet-based signal analysis: are they really different approaches? J. Neurosci. Methods 137, 321-332.
- Buckner, R.L., Snyder, A.Z., Shannon, B.J., LaRossa, G., Sachs, R., Fotenos, A.F., Sheline, Y.I., Klunk, W.E., Mathis, C.A., Morris, J.C., Mintun, M.A., 2005. Molecular, structural, and functional characterisation of Alzheimer's disease: evidence for a relationship between default activity, amyloid, and memory. J. Neurosci.
- Buzsáki, G., Draguhn, A., 2004. Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks. Science 304, 1926-1929.
- Calhoun, V.D., Kiehl, K.A., Pearlson, G.D., 2008. Modulation of temporally coherent brain networks estimated using ICA at rest and during cognitive tasks. Hum. Brain Mapp. 29, 828-838.
- Cao, Q., Zang, Y., Sun, L., Sui, M., Long, X., Zou, Q., Wang, Y., 2006. Abnormal neural activity in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging study. NeuroReport 17, 1033-1036.
- Castellanos, F.X., Margulies, D.S., Kelly, A.M.C., Uddin, L.Q., Ghaffari, M., Kirsch, A., Shaw, D., Shehzad, Z., Di Martino, A., Biswal, B.B., Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S., Rotrosen, J., Adler, L.A., Milham, M.P., 2008. Cingulate-precuneus interactions: a new locus of dysfunction in adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 63, 332-337.
- Castellanos, F.X., Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S., Scheres, A., Di Martino, A., Hyde, C., Walters, I.R., 2005. Varieties of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder-related intraindividual variability. Biol. Psychiatry 57, 1416–1423.
- Chen, A.C.N., Feng, W., Zhao, H., Yin, Y., Wang, P., 2008. EEG default mode network in the human brain: spectral regional field powers. NeuroImage 41, 561-574.
- Cherkassky, V.L., Kana, R.K., Keller, T.A., Just, M.A., 2006. Functional connectivity in baseline resting-state network in autism. NeuroReport 17, 1687-1690.
- Damoiseaux, J.S., Beckmann, C.F., Sanz Arigita, E.J., Barkhof, F., Scheltens, P., Smith, S.M., Rombouts, S.A.R.B., 2008. Reduced resting-state brain activity in the 'default network' in normal aging. Cereb. Cortex 18, 1856–1864.
- Damoiseaux, J.S., Rombouts, S.A.R.B., Barkhof, F., Scheltens, P., Stam, C.J., Smith, S.M., Beckmann, C.F., 2006. Consistent resting-state networks across healthy subjects. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 13848-13853.
- Davies, M.E., James, C.J., 2007. Source separation using single channel ICA. Signal Process. 87, 1819-1832.
- Debener, S., Ullsperger, M., Fiehler, K., Von Cramon, D.Y., Engel, A.K., 2005. Trial-bytrial coupling of concurrent electroencephalogram and functional magnetic resonance imaging identifies the dynamics of performance monitoring. J. Neurosci. 25, 11730-11737.
- Debener, S., Ullsperger, M., Siegel, M., Fiehler, K., von Cramon, D.Y., Engel, A.K., 2006. Single-trial EEG/fMRI reveals the dynamics of cognitive function. Trends Cogn. Sci. 10, 558-563.
- Delorme, A., Makeig, S., Fabre-Thorpe, M., Sejnowski, T., 2002. From single-trial EEG to brain area dynamics. Neurocomputing 44-46, 1057-1064.
- Demanuele, C., James, C.J., Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S., 2007. Distinguishing low frequency oscillations within the 1/f spectral behaviour of electromagnetic brain signals. Behav. Brain Funct. 3, 62.
- Deshpande, G., LaConte, S., Peltier, S., Hu, X., 2007. Integrated local correlation: a
- new measure of local coherence in fMRI data. Hum. Brain Mapp.. Eichele, T., Debener, S., Calhoun, V.D., Specht, K., Engel, A.K., Hugdahl, K., Von Cramon, D.Y., Ullsperger, M., 2008. Prediction of human errors by maladaptive changes in event-related brain networks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 6173-6178
- Engel, A.K., Fries, P., Singer, W., 2001. Dynamic predictions: oscillations and synchrony in top-down processing. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2, 704-716.
- Esposito, F., Bertolino, A., Scarabino, T., Latorre, V., Blasi, G., Popolizio, T., Tedeschi, G., Cirillo, S., Goebel, R., Di Salle, F., 2006. Independent component model of the default-mode brain function: assessing the impact of active thinking. Brain Res. Bull. 70, 263-269.
- Fair, D.A., Cohen, A.L., Dosenbach, N.U.F., Church, J.A., Miezin, F.M., Barch, D.M. Raichle, M.E., Petersen, S.E., Schlaggar, B.L., 2008. The maturing architecture of the brain's default network. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 1028-1032.
- Fair, D.A., Dosenbach, N.U.F., Church, J.A., Cohen, A.L., Brahmbhatt, S., Miezin, F.M., Barch, D.M., Raichle, M.E., Petersen, S.E., Schlaggar, B.L., 2007. Development of distinct cortical networks through segregation and integration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 13507-13512.
- Firbank, M.J., Blamire, A.M., Krishnan, M.S., Teodorczuk, A., English, P., Gholkar, A., Harrison, R., O'Brien, J.T., 2007. Atrophy is associated with posterior cingulate white matter disruption in dementia with Lewy bodies and Alzheimer's disease. NeuroImage 36, 1-7
- Fox, M.D., Raichle, M.E., 2007. Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 700-711.
- Fox, M.D., Snyder, A.Z., Raichle, M.E., 2008. Global signal regression and anticorrelations in resting state fMRI data. In: Poster Presented at Human Brain Mapping Conference, June, Melbourne, Australia.
- Fox, M.D., Snyder, A.Z., Vincent, J.L., Corbetta, M., Van Essen, D.C., Raichle, M.E., 2005. The human brain is intrinsically organised into dynamic, anticorrelated functional networks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 9673-9678.
- Fox, M.D., Snyder, A.Z., Zacks, J.M., Raichle, M.E., 2006a. Coherent spontaneous activity accounts for trial-to-trial variability in human evoked brain responses. Nat. Neurosci. 9, 23-25.

- Fox, M.D., Corbetta, M., Snyder, A.Z., Vincent, J.L., Raichle, M.E., 2006b. Spontaneous neuronal activity distinguishes human dorsal and ventral attention systems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 10046-10051.
- Fransson, P., 2005. Spontaneous low-frequency BOLD signal fluctuations: an fMRI investigation of the resting-state default mode of brain function hypothesis. Hum. Brain Mapp. 26, 15-29.
- Fransson, P., 2006. How default is the default mode of brain function? Further evidence from intrinsic BOLD signal fluctuations. Neuropsychologia 44, 2836-
- Fransson, P., Skiöld, B., Horsch, S., Nordell, A., Blennow, M., Lagercrantz, H., Åden, U., 2007. Resting-state networks in the infant brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 15531-15536.
- Friston, K.J., 1994. Functional and effective connectivity in neuroimaging: a synthesis. Hum. Brain Mapp. 2, 56-78.
- Garrity, A.G., Pearlson, G.D., McKiernan, K.A., Lloyd, D., Kiehl, K.A., Calhoun, V.D., 2007. Aberrant 'default mode' functional connectivity in schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 164, 450-457.
- Gilbert, S.J., Dumontheil, I., Simons, J.S., Firth, C.D., Burgess, P.W., 2007. Comment on 'Wandering minds: the default network and stimulus-independent thought'. Science 317, 43b.
- Gramatikov, B., Georgiev, I., 1995. Wavelets as alternative to short-time Fourier transform in signal-averaged electrocardiography. Med. Biol. Eng. Comput. 33, 482-487.
- Greicius, M.D., Flores, B.H., Menon, V., Glover, G.H., Solvason, H.B., Kenna, H., Reiss, A.L., Schatzberg, A.F., 2007. Resting-state functional connectivity in major depression: abnormally increased contributions from subgenual cingulate cortex and thalamus. Biol. Psychiatry 62, 429-437.
- Greicius, M.D., Kiviniemi, V., Tervonen, O., Vainionpää, V., Alahuhta, S., Reiss, A.L., Menon, V., 2008a. Persistent default-mode network connectivity during light sedation. Hum. Brain Mapp. 29, 839-847.
- Greicius, M.D., Supekar, K., Menon, V., Dougherty, R.F., 2008b. Resting-state functional connectivity reflects structural connectivity in the defaultmode network. Cereb. Cortex, doi:10.1093/cercor/bhn059 (epub ahead of print).
- Greicius, M.D., Krasnow, B., Reiss, A.L., Menon, V., 2003. Functional connectivity in the resting brain: a network analysis of the default mode hypothesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 253-258.
- Greicius, M.D., Menon, V., 2004. Default-mode activity during a passive sensory task: uncoupled from deactivation but impacting activation. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 16. 1484-1492.
- Greicius, M.D., Srivastava, G., Reiss, A.L., Menon, V., 2004. Default-mode network activity distinguishes Alzheimer's disease from healthy aging: evidence from functional MRI. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 4637-4642.
- Gusnard, D.A., Akbudak, E., Shulman, G.L., Raichle, M.E., 2001. Medial prefrontal cortex and self-referential mental activity: relation to a default mode of brain function. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 4259–4264.
- Gusnard, D.A., Raichle, M.E., 2001. Searching for a baseline: functional neuroimaging and the resting human brain. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2, 685-694.
- Hahn, B., Ross, T.J., Yang, Y., Kim, I., Huestis, M.A., Stein, E.A., 2007. Nicotine enhances visuospatial attention by deactivating areas of the resting brain default network. J. Neurosci. 27, 3477-3489.
- Hampson, M., Driesen, N.R., Skudlarski, P., Gore, J.C., Constable, R.T., 2006. Brain connectivity related to working memory performance. J. Neurosci. 26, 13338-13343.
- He, Y., Wang, L., Zang, Y., Tian, L., Zhang, X., Li, K., Jiang, T., 2007. Regional coherence changes in early Alzheimer's disease: a combined structural and resting-state functional MRI study. NeuroImage 35, 488-500.
- Helps, S., James, C., Debener, S., Karl, A., Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S., 2008. Very low frequency EEG oscillations and the resting brain in young adults: a preliminary study of localisation, stability and association with symptoms of inattention. J. Neural Transm. 115, 279-285.
- Herrmann, C.S., Debener, S., 2008. Simultaneous recording of EEG and BOLD responses: a historical perspective. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 67, 161-168.
- Honey, C.J., Kötter, R., Breakspear, M., Sporns, O., 2007. Network structure of cerebral cortex shapes functional connectivity on multiple time scales. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 10240-10245.
- Honey, G.D., Suckling, J., Zelaya, F., Long, C., Routledge, C., Jackson, S., Ng, V., Fletcher, P.C., Williams, S.C.R., Brown, J., Bullmore, E., 2003. Dopaminergic drug effects on physiological connectivity in a human cortico-striato-thalamic system. Brain 126, 1767-1781.
- Horovitz, S.G., Fukunaga, M., de Zwart, J.A., van Gelderen, P., Fulton, S.C., Balkin, T.J., Duyn, J.H., 2008. Low frequency BOLD fluctuations during resting wakefulness and light sleep: a simultaneous EEG-fMRI study. Hum. Brain Mapp. 29, 671-
- Huettel, S.A., McKeown, M.J., Song, A.W., Hart, S., Spencer, D.D., Allison, T., McCarthy, G., 2004. Linking hemodynamic and electrophysiological measures of brain activity: evidence from functional MRI and intracranial field potentials. Cereb. Cortex 14, 165-173.
- lacoboni, M., 2006. Failure to deactivate in autism: the co-constitution of self and other. Trends Cogn. Sci. 10, 431-433.
- Jafri, M.J., Pearlson, G.D., Stevens, M., Calhoun, V.D., 2008. A method for functional network connectivity among spatially independent resting-state components in schizophrenia. NeuroImage 39, 1666-1681.
- James, C.J., Hesse, C.W., 2005. Independent component analysis for biomedical signals. Physiol. Meas. 26, 15-39.

S.J. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

- Jung, T.P., Makeig, S., Westerfield, M., Townsend, J., Courchesne, E., Sejnowski, T., 2000. Removal of eye activity artifacts from visual event-related potentials in normal and clinical subjects. Clin. Neurophysiol. 111, 1745– 1758
- Kelly, A.M.C., Uddin, L.Q., Biswal, B.B., Castellanos, F.X., Milham, M.P., 2008. Competition between functional brain networks mediates behavioural variability. NeuroImage 39, 527–537.
- Kennedy, D.P., Courchesne, E., 2008. The intrinsic functional organisation of the brain is altered in autism. NeuroImage 39, 1877–1885.
- Kennedy, D.P., Redcay, E., Courchesne, E., 2006. Failing to deactivate: resting functional abnormalities in autism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 8275–8280.
- Khader, P., Schicke, T., Röder, B., Rösler, F., 2008. On the relationship between slow cortical potentials and BOLD signal changes in humans. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 67, 252–261.
- Kingstone, A., Smilek, D., Ristic, J., Friesen, C.K., Eastwood, J.D., 2003. Attention, researchers! It is time to take a look at the real world Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 12, 176–184
- Klein, C., Wendling, K., Huettner, P., Ruder, H., Peper, M., 2006. Intra-subject variability in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 60, 1088–1097.
- Lachaux, J.P., Rodriguez, E., Lutz, A., Martinerie, J., Varela, F.J., 1999. Measuring phase synchrony in brain signals. Hum. Brain Mapp. 8, 194–208.
- Laufs, H., 2008. Endogenous brain oscillations and related networks detected by surface EEG-combined fMRI. Hum. Brain Mapp. 29, 762–769.
- Laufs, H., Hamandi, K., Salek-Haddadi, A., Kleinschmidt, A., Duncan, J.S., Lemieux, L., 2007. Temporal lobe interictal epileptic discharges affect cerebral activity in the 'default mode' brain regions. Hum. Brain Mapp. 28, 1023–1032.
- Laufs, H., Holt, J.L., Elfont, R., Krams, M., Paul, J.S., Krakow, K., Kleinschmidt, A., 2006. Where the BOLD signal goes when alpha EEG leaves. NeuroImage 31, 1408–1418.
- Laufs, H., Kleinschmidt, A., Beyerle, A., Eger, E., Salek-Haddadi, A., Preibisch, C., Krakow, K., 2003a. EEG-correlated fMRI of human alpha activity. NeuroImage 19. 1463–1476.
- Laufs, H., Krakow, K., Sterzer, P., Eger, E., Beyerle, A., Salek-Haddadi, A., Kleinschmidt, A., 2003b. Electroencephalographic signatures of attentional and cognitive default modes in spontaneous brain activity at rest. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100. 11053–11058.
- Leistner, S., Sander, T., Burghoff, M., Curio, G., Trahms, L., Mackert, B.-M., 2007. Combined MEG and EEG methodology for non-invasive recording of infraslow activity in the human cortex. Clin. Neurophysiol. 118, 2774–2780.
- Liang, M., Zhou, Y., Jiang, T., Liu, Z., Tian, L., Liu, H., Hao, Y., 2006. Widespread functional disconnectivity in schizophrenia with resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging. NeuroReport 17, 209–213.
- Lind, J., Persson, J., Ingvar, M., Larsson, A., Cruts, M., Van Broeckhoven, C., Adolfsson, R., Bäckman, L., Lars-Göran, N., Petersson, K.M., Nyberg, L., 2006. Reduced functional brain activity response in cognitively intact apolipoprotein Ε ε4 carriers. Brain 129, 1240–1248.
- Liu, H., Liu, Z., Liang, M., Hao, Y., Tan, L., Kuang, F., Yi, Y., Xu, L., Jiang, T., 2006. Decreased regional homogeneity in schizophrenia: a resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging study. NeuroReport 17, 19–22.
- Liu, Y., Yu, C., He, Y., Zhou, Y., Liang, M., Wang, L., Jiang, T., 2008. Regional homogeneity, functional connectivity and imaging markers of Alzheimer's disease: a review of resting-state fMRI studies. Neuropsychologia 46, 1648– 1656
- Long, X.-Y., Zuo, X.-N., Kiviniemi, V., Yang, Y., Zou, Q., Zhu, C.-Z., Jiang, T., Yang, H., Gong, Q.-Y., Wang, L., Li, K., Xie, S., Zang, Y., 2008. Default mode network as revealed with multiple methods for resting-state functional MRI analysis. J. Neurosci. Methods 171, 349–355.
- Lowe, M.J., Phillips, M.D., Lurito, J.T., Mattson, D., Dzemidzic, M., Mathews, V.P., 2002. Multiple sclerosis: low-frequency temporal blood oxygen level-dependent fluctuations indicate reduced functional connectivity-initial results. Radiology 224, 184–192.
- Lu, H., Zuo, Y., Gu, H., Waltz, J.A., Zhan, W., School, C.A., Rea, W., Yang, Y., Stein, E.A., 2007. Synchronised delta oscillations correlate with the resting-state functional MRI signal. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 18265–18269.
- Lui, S., Ouyang, L., Chen, Q., Huang, X., Tang, H., Chen, H., Zhou, D., Kemp, G.J., Gong, Q.-Y., 2008. Differential interictal activity of the precuneus/posterior cingulate cortex revealed by resting state functional MRI at 3T in generalised vs. partial seizure. J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 27, 1214–1220.
- Maddock, R.J., 1999. The retrosplenial cortex and emotion: new insights from functional neuroimaging of the human brain. Trends Neurosci. 22, 310–316.
- Makeig, S., Debener, S., Onton, J., Delorme, A., 2004. Mining event-related brain dynamics. Trends Cogn. Sci. 8, 204–210.
- Makeig, S., Westerfield, M., Jung, T.P., Enghoff, S., Townsend, J., Courchesne, E., Sejnowski, T.J., 2002. Dynamic brain sources of visual evoked responses. Science 295, 690–694.
- Mantini, D., Perrucci, M.G., Del Gratta, D., Romani, G.L., Corbetta, M., 2007. Electrophysiological signatures of resting state networks in the human brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 13170–13175.
- Mason, M.F., Norton, M.I., Van Horn, J.D., Wegner, D.M., Grafton, S.T., Macrae, C.N., 2007. Wandering minds: the default network and stimulus independent thought. Science 315, 393–395.
- McKeown, M.J., Makeig, S., Brown, G.G., Jung, T.P., Kindermann, S.S., Bell, A.J., Sejnowski, T., 1998. Analysis of fMRI data by blind separation into independent spatial components. Hum. Brain Mapp. 6, 160–188.

- McKiernan, K.A., D'Angelo, B.R., Kaufman, J.N., Binder, J.R., 2006. Interrupting the 'stream of consciousness': an fMRI investigation. NeuroImage 29, 1185–1191.
- Meltzer, J.A., Negishi, M., Mayes, L.C., Constable, R.T., 2007. Individual differences in EEG theta and alpha dynamics during working memory correlate with fMRI responses across subjects. Clin. Neurophysiol. 118, 2419–2436.
- Menon, V., Leroux, J., White, C.D., Reiss, A.L., 2004. Frontostriatal deficits in fragile X syndrome: relation to FMR1 gene expression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 3615–3620.
- Murphy, K., Birn, R.M., Bandettini, P.A., 2008. The impact of global signal regression on anti-correlated networks in resting state connectivity analyses. In: Poster Presented at Human Brain Mapping Conference, June, Melbourne, Australia.
- Northoff, G., Walter, M., Schulte, R.F., Beck, J., Dydak, U., Henning, A., Boeker, H., Grimm, S., Boesiger, P., 2007. GABA concentrations in the human anterior cingulate cortex predict negative BOLD responses in fMRI. Nat. Neurosci. 10, 1515–1517.
- Nunez, P.L., Silberstein, R.B., 2000. On the relationship of synaptic activity to macroscopic measurements: does co-registration of EEG with fMRI make sense? Brain Topogr. 13, 79–96.
- Osipova, D., Rantanen, K., Ahveninen, J., Ylikoski, R., Happola, O., Stranberg, T., Pekkonen, E., 2006. Source estimation of spontaneous MEG oscillations in mild cognitive impairment. Neurosci. Lett. 405, 57–61.
- Penttonen, M., Buzsáki, G., 2003. Natural logarithmic relationship between brain oscillators. Thalamus Relat. Syst. 2, 145–152.
- Persson, J., Lind, J., Larsson, A., Ingvar, M., Sleegers, K., Van Broeckhoven, C., Adolfsson, R., Nilsson, L.G., Nyberg, L., 2008. Altered deactivation in individuals at genetic risk for Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychologia 48, 1679–1687.
- Pomarol-Clotet, E., Salvador, R., Sarró, S., Gomar, J., Vila, F., Martínez, A., Guerrero, A., Ortiz-Gil, J., Sans-Sansa, B., Capdevila, A., Cebemanos, J.M., McKenna, P.J., 2008. Failure to deactivate in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia: dysfunction of the default-mode network? Psychol. Med. 38, 1185–1193.
- Raichle, M.E., Gusnard, D.A., 2002. Appraising the brain's energy budget. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, 10237-10239.
- Raichle, M.E., Gusnard, D.A., 2005. Intrinsic brain activity sets the stage for expression of motivated behaviour. J. Comp. Neurol. 493, 167–176.
- Raichle, M.E., MacLeod, A.M., Snyder, A.Z., Powers, W.J., Gusnard, D.A., Shulman, G.L., 2001. A default mode of brain function. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 676–682.
- Raichle, M.E., Mintun, M.A., 2006. Brain work and brain imaging. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 29, 449–476.
- Rilling, J.K., Barks, S.K., Parr, L.A., Preuss, T.M., Faber, T.L., Pagnoni, G., Bremmer, J.D., Votaw, J.R., 2007. A comparison of resting-state brain activity in humans and chimpanzees. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 17146–17151.
- Rilling, J.K., Dagenais, J.E., Goldsmith, D.R., Glenn, A.L., Pagnoni, G., 2008. Social cognitive neural networks during in-group and out-group interactions. Neuro-Image 41, 1447–1461.
- Rombouts, S.A.R.B., Barkhof, F., Goekoop, R., Stam, C.J., Scheltens, P., 2005. Altered resting state networks in mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer's disease: an fMRI study. Hum. Brain Mapp. 26, 231–239.
- Salvador, R., Martínez, A., Pomarol-Clotet, E., Gomar, J., Vila, F., Sarró, S., Capdevila, A., Bullmore, E., 2008. A simple view of the brain through a frequency-specific functional connectivity measure. NeuroImage 39, 279–289.
- Scheeringa, R., Bastiaansen, M.C.M., Petersson, K.M., Oostenveld, R., Norris, D.G., Hagoort, P., 2008. Frontal theta EEG activity correlates negatively with the default mode network in resting state. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 67, 242–251.
- Schilbach, L., Eickhoff, S.B., Rotarska-Jagiela, A., Fink, G.R., Vogeley, K., 2008. Mind at rest? Social cognition as the default mode of cognizing and its putative relationship to the 'default system' of the brain. Conscious. Cogn. 17, 457–467.
- Schroeder, C.E., Lakatos, P., Kajikawa, Y., Partan, S., Puce, A., 2008. Neuronal oscillations and visual amplification of speech. Trends Cogn. Sci. 12, 106–113.
- Simpson, J.R., Snyder, A.Z., Gusnard, D.A., Raichle, M.E., 2001. Emotion-induced changes in human medial prefrontal cortex. I. During cognitive task performance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 683–687.
- Singh, K.D., Fawcett, I.P., 2008. Transient and linearly graded deactivation of the human default-mode network by a visual detection task. NeuroImage 41, 100–112.
- Smallwood, J., Beach, E., Schooler, J.W., Handy, T.C., 2008. Going AWOL in the brain: mind wandering reduces cortical analysis of external events. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 20, 458–469.
- Smilek, D., Birmingham, E., Cameron, D., Bischof, W., Kingstone, A., 2006. Cognitive ethology and exploring attention in real-world scenes. Brain Res. 1080, 101– 119
- Smith, S., Niazy, R., Beckmann, C., Miller, K., 2008. Resting state networks—neither low frequency nor anticorrelated? In: Poster presented at Human Brain Mapping Conference, June, Melbourne, Australia.
- Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S., Castellanos, F.X., 2007. Spontaneous attentional fluctuations in impaired states and pathological conditions: a neurobiological hypothesis. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 31, 977–986.
- Sorg, C., Riedl, V., Mühlau, M., Calhoun, V.D., Eichele, T., Läer, L., Drzezga, A., Förstl, A., Zimmer, C., Wohlschläger, A.M., 2007. Selective changes of resting-state networks in individuals with Alzheimer's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 18760–18765.
- Stam, C.J., Jones, B.F., Manshanden, I., van Cappellen van Walsum, A.M., Montez, T., Verbunt, J., de Munck, J.C., van Dijk, B.W., Berendse, H.W., Scheltens, P., 2006. Magnetoencephalographic evaluation of resting-state functional connectivity in Alzheimer's disease. NeuroImage 32, 1335–1344.

S.I. Broyd et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

- Stoffers, D., Bosboom, J.L.W., Deijen, J.B., Wolters, E., Stam, C.J., Berendse, H.W., 2008. Increased cortico-cortical functional connectivity in early-stage Parkinsons disease: an MEG study. NeuroImage 41, 212–222.
- Tcheslavski, G.V., (Louis) Beex, A.A., 2006. Phase synchrony and coherence analysis of EEG as tools to discriminate between children with and without attention deficit disorder. Biomed. Signal Process. Control 1, 151–161.
- Thomason, M.E., Chang, C.E., Glover, G.H., Gabrieli, J.D.E., Greicius, M.D., Gotlib, I.H., 2008. Default-mode function and task-induced deactivation have overlapping brain substrates in children. NeuroImage 41, 1493–1503.
- Tian, L., Jiang, T., Wang, Y., Zang, Y., He, Y.L., Meng, Sui, M., Cao, Q., Hu, S., Peng, M., Zhou, Y., 2006. Altered resting-state functional connectivity patterns of anterior cingulate cortex in adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Neurosci. Lett. 400, 39–43.
- Tinaz, S., Schendan, H.E., Stern, C.E., 2008. Fronto-striatal deficit in Parkinson's disease during semantic event sequencing. Neurobiol. Aging 29, 397–407.
- Tripp, G., Wickens, J.R., 2008. Dopamine transfer deficit: a neurobiological theory of altered reinforcement mechanisms in ADHD. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 49, 691– 704
- Uddin, L.Q., Kelly, A.M.C., Biswal, B.B., Margulies, D.S., Shehzad, Z., Shaw, D., Ghaffari, M., Rotrosen, J., Adler, L.A., Castellanos, F.X., Milham, M.P., 2008a. Network homogeneity reveals decreased integrity of default-mode network in ADHD. J. Neurosci. Methods 169, 249–254.
- Uddin, L.Q., Kelly, A.M.C., Biswal, B.B., Castellanos, F.X., Milham, M.P., 2008b. Functional connectivity of default mode network components: correlation, anticorrelation and causality. Hum. Brain Mapp., doi:10.1002/hbm.20531 (epub ahead of print).
- Vanhatalo, S., Palva, J.M., Holmes, M.D., Miller, J.W., Voipio, J., Kaila, K., 2004. Infraslow oscillations modulate excitability and interictal epileptic activity in the human cortex during sleep. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 5053– 5057.
- Vigario, R., Jousmaki, V., Hamalainen, M., Hari, R., Oja, E., 1998. Independent component approach for identification of artifacts in magnetoencephalographic recordings. In: Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, MIT Press, pp. 229–235.
- Vigario, R., Sarela, J., Jousmaki, V., Hamalainen, M., Oja, E., 2000. Independent component approach to the analysis of EEG and MEG recordings. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 47, 589–593.

- Wang, L., Zang, Y., He, Y., Liang, M., Zhang, X., Tian, L., Wu, T., Jiang, T., Li, K., 2006. Changes in hippocampal connectivity in the early stages of Alzheimer's disease: evidence from resting state fMRI. NeuroImage 31, 469–504.
- Weissman, D.H., Roberts, K.C., Visscher, K.M., Woldorff, M.G., 2006. The neural basis of momentary lapses in attention. Nat. Neurosci. 9, 971–978.
- Wermke, M., Sorg, C., Wohlschläger, A.M., Drzezga, A., 2008. A new integrative model of cerebral activation, deactivation and default mode function in Alzheimer's disease. Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging 35, 12–24.
- Williamson, P., 2007. Are anticorrelated networks in the brain relevant to schizophrenia. Schizophr. Bull. 33, 994–1003.
- Wilson, S.M., Molnar-Szakacs, I., Iacoboni, M., 2008. Beyond superior temporal cortex: intersubject correlations in narrative speech comprehension. Cereb. Cortex 18, 230–242.
- Zang, Y., He, Y., Zhu, C.-Z., Cao, Q., Sui, M., Liang, M., Tian, L., Jiang, T., Wang, Y., 2007.
 Altered baseline brain activity in children with ADHD revealed by resting-state functional MRI. Brain Dev. 29, 83–91.
- Zang, Y., Jiang, T., Lu, Y., He, Y., Tian, L., 2004. Regional homogeneity approach to fMRI data analysis. NeuroImage 22, 394–400.
- Zhang, L.J., Yang, G., Yin, J., Liu, Y., Qi, J., 2007. Abnormal default-mode network activation in cirrhotic patients: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Acta Radiol. 781–787.
- Zhao, X.H., Wang, P.J., Li, C.B., Hu, Z.-H., Xi, Q., Wu, W.-Y., Tang, X.-W., 2007. Altered default mode network activity in patients with anxiety disorders: an fMRI study. Eur. J. Radiol. 63, 373–378.
- Zhou, Y., Liang, M., Tian, L., Wang, K., Hao, Y., Liu, H., Liu, Z., Jiang, T., 2007. Functional disintegration in paranoid schizophrenia using resting-state fMRI. Schizophr. Res. 97, 194–205.
- Zhou, Y., Shu, N., Liu, Y., Song, M., Hao, Y., Liu, H., Yu, C., Liu, Z., Jiang, T., 2008. Altered resting-state functional connectivity and anatomical connectivity of the hippocampus in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 100, 120–132.
- Zhu, C.-Z., Zang, Y., Cao, Q., Yan, C.-G., He, Y., Jiang, T., Sui, M., Wang, Y., 2008. Fisher discriminative analysis of resting-state brain function for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. NeuroImage 40, 110–120.
- Zou, Q., Zhu, C., Yang, Y., Zuo, X., Long, X., Cao, Q., Wang, Y., Zang, Y., 2008. An improved approach to the detection of amplitude low-frequency fluctuation (ALFF) for resting state fRMI: fractional ALFF. J. Neurosci. Methods 172, 137–141.